NOTE TO USERS

.....

___ · ·

This reproduction is the best copy available.

UMI®

, ______

The Role of β1-integrins In Centrosomal Stability

Yen May Ong 260205905 Biology Department Faculty of Science McGill University, Montreal December, 2008

A thesis submitted to McGill University in partial fulfillment of the requirements of the degree of the Masters of Science in Biology.





Library and Archives Canada

Published Heritage Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada Bibliothèque et Archives Canada

Direction du Patrimoine de l'édition

395, rue Wellington Ottawa ON K1A 0N4 Canada

> Your file Votre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-66746-0 Our file Notre référence ISBN: 978-0-494-66746-0

NOTICE:

The author has granted a nonexclusive license allowing Library and Archives Canada to reproduce, publish, archive, preserve, conserve, communicate to the public by telecommunication or on the Internet, loan, distribute and sell theses worldwide, for commercial or noncommercial purposes, in microform, paper, electronic and/or any other formats.

The author retains copyright ownership and moral rights in this thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without the author's permission. AVIS:

L'auteur a accordé une licence non exclusive permettant à la Bibliothèque et Archives Canada de reproduire, publier, archiver, sauvegarder, conserver, transmettre au public par télécommunication ou par l'Internet, prêter, distribuer et vendre des thèses partout dans le monde, à des fins commerciales ou autres, sur support microforme, papier, électronique et/ou autres formats.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur et des droits moraux qui protège cette thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés ou autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

In compliance with the Canadian Privacy Act some supporting forms may have been removed from this thesis.

While these forms may be included in the document page count, their removal does not represent any loss of content from the thesis.

Canada

Conformément à la loi canadienne sur la protection de la vie privée, quelques formulaires secondaires ont été enlevés de cette thèse.

Bien que ces formulaires aient inclus dans la pagination, il n'y aura aucun contenu manquant.

Table of Contents

Abstract/Resumevi
1 Literature Review 1
1.1 Centrosomes1
Figure 1: Structure of the centrosome
1.2 Centrosomes in Mitosis7
1.3 Centrosomes at Interphase
1.3.1 Cell Adhesion10
1.3.2 Cell Polarization 12
1.3.3 Cell Migration and Motility15
1.4 Centrosomal Signalling 17
1.5 Integrins
1.5.1 Focal Adhesions
1.5.2 Point Contacts
1.6 Integrin Signalling21
1.6.1 Focal Adhesion Kinase
1.6.2 Integrin Linked Kinase
1.6.3 Other Proteins and Pathways
1.7 Previous Work
1.8 Objectives and Rationale of Work
1.9 Summary of Results
2 Materials and Methods
2.1 Astrocytic Cell Culture



2.2 Plasmids and Oligonucleotides
2.3 Cell Adhesion Assays
2.4 Cell Dissociation Assay
2.5 siRNA Plasmid and Oligo Transfection
2.6 Drugs and Small Molecule Inhibitors
2.7 Antibodies
3 Results and Conclusions
3.1 Centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes are in suspension
3.2 Centrosomes assemble rapidly on a variety of substrates
Figure 2: Centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes are in suspension.38
3.3 β 1-integrin ligation is necessary for centrosome assembly and
maintenance
Figure 3: Centrosomes assemble rapidly on a variety of substrates 41
Figure 4: β 1-integrin ligation is necessary for centrosome assembly and
maintenance
3.4 Astrocyte attachment to different laminin fragments slows centrosomal
assembly
Figure 5: Astrocyte attachment to different laminin fragments affects the
rate centrosomal assembly 47
3.5 Activated FAK and ILK localize to focal adhesions in astrocytes on
fibronectin and laminin but not polylysine
Figure 6: Activated FAK and ILK localize to focal adhesions in
astrocytes on fibronectin and laminin but not polylysine

3.6 Inhibition of FAK activation has no effect on centrosomal integrity 53
Figure 7: Knocking down FAK activation has no effect on centrosomal
integrity 55
3.7 Knocking down ILK expression has no effect on centrosomal integrity.
Figure 8: Knocking down ILK expression with ILK siRNA plasmid
constructs has no effect on centrosomal integrity 59
Figure 9: Knocking down ILK expression by ILK oligonucleotide
siRNAs had no effect on centrosomal integrity
3.8 Perturbing Cdc42 activation with Secramine A has no effect on the
centrosome
Figure 10: Perturbing Cdc42 activation with Secramine A has no effect
on the centrosome
on the centrosome.664 Discussion.674.1 Centrosome Kinetics.674.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine674.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome
on the centrosome. 66 4 Discussion 67 4.1 Centrosome Kinetics 67 4.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine 67 4.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome 68
on the centrosome. 66 4 Discussion 67 4.1 Centrosome Kinetics 67 4.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine 67 4.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome 68 4.4 Laminin Fragments and Centrosome Assembly 69
on the centrosome. 66 4 Discussion 67 4.1 Centrosome Kinetics 67 4.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine 67 4.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome 68 Assembly 68 4.4 Laminin Fragments and Centrosome Assembly 69 4.5 Mechanotransduction of Integrin Signalling 70
on the centrosome. 66 4 Discussion 67 4.1 Centrosome Kinetics 67 4.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine 67 4.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome Assembly. 68 4.4 Laminin Fragments and Centrosome Assembly 69 4.5 Mechanotransduction of Integrin Signalling 70 4.6 Downstream Signalling from β1-integrin 72

Figure 11: Model for integrin signalling in centrosome assembly and
maintenance
4.6.2 Cdc42
4.6.3 ACK2
4.6.4 RhoA
4.6.5 Caveolin-1 and Paxillin
4.6.6 Src Family Kinases 100
4.6.7 MAP Kinase100
4.7 Current and Future Work101
5 References
6 Appendix



Abstract/Resume

Centrosomes are major microtubule organizing centres that set up an internal microtubule (MT) network contributing to cell shape and to the formation of the mitotic spindle during cell division. Rearrangement of this MT array can be dictated by the centrosome and occurs during cell adhesion, polarization and migration. However, little is known about what regulates centrosome assembly and maintenance. β 1-integrins are common cell surface receptors and we show that β 1-integrin signalling is necessary for modulation of centrosome dynamics. In an attempt to identify the downstream components of β 1-integrin signalling involved, we also discovered that the activation of focal adhesion kinase or integrin linked kinase are not required in maintaining centrosome integrity. This would indicate that a non-canonical signalling β 1-integrin pathway might be involved in controlling centrosomal dynamics. This gives us greater insight into the mechanisms that control centrosomal stability and may lead to the better understanding of diseases like cancer and diseases, i.e. lissencephaly, which involve defects in cell polarization and asymmetric cell division, where the centrosome seems to have an important role.

Les centrosomes sont les principaux centres d'organisation des microtubules (MT) contribuant à la structure de la cellule et à la formation du fuseau mitotique au cours de la division cellulaire. Les centrosomes jouent également des rôles essentiels dans la réorganisation du réseau de microtubules nécessaire à l'adhérence cellulaire, l'établissement de la polarité et à la migration. Cependant

vi

les mécanismes permettant l'assemblage et la maintenance des centrosomes sont peu connu. Nous démontrons ici que les récepteurs transmembranaires β 1intégrines sont nécessaires à la modulation de la dynamique des centrosomes. De plus, nos résultats visant à identifier les composants en aval de la signalisation β 1intégrine révèlent que l'activation des kinases d'adhérence focale ou kinases liées aux intégrines ne sont pas nécessaires dans le maintien de l'intégrité des centrosomes. Cela semble indiquer qu'une voie non-canonique de signalisation β 1-intégrine pourrait être impliquée dans le contrôle dynamique des centrosomes. En conclusion les études présentées ici permettent une meilleure compréhension des mécanismes contrôlant la stabilité centrosomal. Ce qui en retour nous permet de mieux comprendre un grand nombre de pathologies humaines, telles que le cancer qui peuvent être notamment induites pas des anomalies de polarisation ou de division cellulaire asymétrique qui sont dépendants du bon fonctionnement des centrosomes.

Acknowledgements

I would like to take the opportunity to thank everyone who made this thesis possible.

Especially to my supervisor, Dr Salvatore Carbonetto, thank you for the guidance and support you have shown be throughout my Master's career. I would also like to show my appreciation for Dr Paul Holland whose advice and encouragement has been invaluable throughout my project. Both Dr Carbonetto and Dr Holland have been absolutely integral to the inspiration and direction of my project. My supervisory committee, Dr Yong Rao, Dr Laura Nilson and Dr Don Van Meyel, has been a big part of my development as a graduate student and researcher. Their supervision throughout my time at McGill ensured that I was an effective student and reached my potential.

The Carbonetto lab was also instrumental in creating the productive environment in which my research was conducted. Dr Huashan Peng taught me many of the techniques presented here and was always available to answer questions and troubleshoot problems encountered. Thank you to Nadia Melian and Raphael Vezina for all the advice and support given as I meandered through the graduate program and for the laughs shared along the way.

I would also like to extend my appreciation to Dr Renee St-Arnaud, Dr Tony Parsons, Dr Tom Kirchhausen and Dr Gerald Hammond for their contribution of plasmid constructs and small molecule inhibitors that were used throughout my project. Without their contributions, a lot of my experiments would not have been possible. To the administrative department at the Department of Biology, especially Ms Susan Bocti, thank you for answering my many questions and making my journey through my Master's smooth and uneventful. Especially to all the postdoctoral fellows and graduate students at the Centre for Research in Neuroscience at the Montreal General Hospital, I would like to express my appreciation for creating the wonderful and enjoyable setting in which this piece of work was possible. Thank you for the laughs, the tears and the memories created and shared. It has been one of the most fulfilling experiences. Special mention to Stephanie Stacey, Darius Camp, Scott Cameron, Leslie Ribeiro, Dr Kerry Ferguson, Caroline Fernandes, Dr Emma Jones, Steven Salomon, Dr Sabrina Chierzi, Denise Cook, Dr Yann Bernardinelli, Pierce Hua, Tevye Stacniak, Dr Nader Ghasemlou and Dr Michael Quinn. Also, I would like to extend my gratitude to Darius Camp for his help in translating my abstract into French.

Finally, I would like to thank my family for all the love, support and encouragement they have shown me. Although you are all so far away, I know that you are always there for me. I would especially like to dedicate this work to my parents. If it were not for them, I would not be where I am today. Thank you.

ix

1 Literature Review

1.1 Centrosomes

Centrosomes are cellular organelles that have microtubule organizing capabilities^{1, 2}. Each centrosome consists of a centriolar core which is surrounded by the pericentriolar matrix (PCM) (Figure 1A) and at interphase is often found adjacent to the nucleus (Figure 1B). This centriolar core comprises of a pair of centrioles which lie perpendicular to each other (Figure 1A). In vertebrates, centrioles are made up of 9 microtubule (MT) triplets that line up radially to form a barrel³ (Figure 1A). The proximal ends of both centrioles in a centrosome are attached to each other⁴ via rootletin, a large coiled-coil protein which belongs to the pericentrin family^{5, 6}. At each distal end, plus ends of MTs attach which allow the centrosome to act as a basal body⁷, similar to basal bodies seen in the formation of cilia and flagella which are projections at the cell surface membrane responsible for moving liquid past the cell surface and for cell motility. Centrioles duplicate during mitosis and are localized to spindle poles during cell division⁸. Hence, centrioles are thought to be important for cell division. However, it has been shown repeatedly that cells lacking centrioles can divide normally generating identical daughter cells⁹⁻¹¹. Most plant cells and some animal germline cells lack centrioles and divide naturally by an alternative pole-based mechanism that does not require centrioles¹².

Spindle poles are found along the axis of cell division and extend MTs¹³ which attach to each replicated sister chromatid at the kinetochore. These MTs





Figure 1: Structure of the centrosome.

The centrosome comprises of a pair of centrioles, orthogonal to each other, which is surrounded by the PCM (A, centrioles in green and PCM in grey). Each centriole is made up of 9 MT triplets that lie in a barrel shaped configuration (A). The PCM is a matrix of proteins containing pericentrin and other centrosomal proteins (A). It is to the PCM that MTs attach via gamma-tubulin ring complexes and cofers the centrosome's microtubule organizing centre ability (A). The centrosome (B, in green) when visualized *in vitro* is observed adjacent to the nucleus (B, in blue) in an astrocyte attached to laminin (B, tubulin in red to show cell adherence). emanating from the spindle poles may pull each chromatid to the opposite sides of a dividing cell¹⁴. This process ensures that all the genetic material in the cell is divided equally to form two identical daughter cells. The spindle poles also ensure genomic stability with the equal segregation of chromosomes during cell division, failing to do so leads to apoptosis and cell death.

In Drosophila melanogaster, flies lacking centrioles were able to develop normally to adulthood but died shortly after eclosion¹⁰. It appeared that centrioles were not essential for normal development of the fly to adulthood. However, after eclosion adult flies lacking centrioles did not survive as they lacked sensory cilia which require centrioles to form a basal body¹⁰. This discrepant requirement of centrioles in adult flies compared to embryos might stem from maternal contribution¹⁵. Maternal contribution of various proteins or transcripts might ensure the proper development of the embryo and the appearance of mitotic phenotypes might be due to the depletion of this maternal contribution¹⁵. With the lack of centrioles, it was interesting to observe the normal formation of mitotic spindles which would indicate that the centrioles are not essential in cell division in the fly. However, orientation of spindle poles for asymmetric division and completion of cytokinesis were disrupted when centrioles were absent¹⁰. Cytokinesis is the process where a furrow is formed to cleave the cell into two during cell division. While centrioles are dispensable for the formation of spindle poles and proper cell division, they have a role in asymmetric division, which is important in cell differentiation¹⁰. Asymmetric cell division generates two cells containing identical genetic material, with different physical characteristics, for

example, protein and RNA composition and localization. This process is responsible for cell differentiation in stem cells and gives rise to the different cell types seen within a multicellular organism.

The spindle poles that develop during mitosis form an axis through the cell which designates the orientation of cell division¹⁶. This axis is important for asymmetric cell division. In symmetric cell division, the cell membrane and cytosol are divided equally with no bias and hence daughter cells that arise from this type of cell division are identical in nature and behaviour. In contrast, asymmetric cell division occurs when the daughter cells that arise from cell division are not identical. This difference in daughter cells is usually due to each cell having different protein^{17, 18} or RNA^{19, 20} compositions and localization within the cytosol and at the cell membrane. The unequal inheritance of molecules from mother to daughter is a result of the orientation of the axis of the spindle poles^{21, 22}, amidst the non-homogenous distribution of proteins and RNA within the cell^{17, 19}. Due to the accumulation of molecules, like Numb and Prospero in *Drosophila* neuroblasts²³, at specific locations in the mother cell during division, one daughter cell, but not the other, will inherit the accumulated molecules.

Asymmetric cell division is extremely important in cell differentiation. Stem cells often undergo asymmetric cell division so that their daughter cells inherit specific cues to differentiate and follow a particular cell fate²⁴. This allows for cellular diversity such that cells may proliferate and differentiate to form the many different cell types populating an organism. In *Drosophila melanogaster* neuroblasts, asymmetric cell division generates a ganglion mother cell, which

proceeds to further divide to form neurons or glial cells, and a daughter cell that retains its neuroblast identity²⁵. This asymmetry in cell types comes from distinct membrane domains in specific parts of the cell as well as the orientation of the spindle poles for cell division²⁶. Such asymmetry ensures that only specific groups of proteins are inherited in the ganglion mother cell or in the daughter cell.

Marshall suggests that one purpose of the centrioles might be to recruit the proteins necessary for the PCM and to maintain its formation²⁷. Centrosomal proteins might use the centrioles as a site of attachment and allow for the accumulation of centrosome-specific proteins at a specific locale in order to carry out its function²⁷. The PCM is a fibrous lattice mesh structure which has pericentrin²⁸ as its primary component (Figure 1A). Other proteins such as γ tubulin, in the form of γ -tubulin ring complexes (γ -TuRCs), interact directly with pericentrin. γ -TuRCs associate with and allow the negative ends of microtubules (MTs) to attach to the PCM from which MTs extend into the cytosol¹³ (Figure 1B). This interaction between γ -TuRCs and the negative ends of MTs anchors MTs to the centrosome and allows its arrangement in the cytosol to form the stable scaffold required to give a cell its shape and to direct movement via rearrangement of this cytoskeleton. Some other proteins like Aurora $A^{29,30}$. integrin-linked kinase³¹ (ILK) and Polo-like kinase 1³² (Plk1) are also known to associate with the PCM and are involved in a variety of signalling pathways that will be discussed later.

The MT network that is set up by the centrosome also creates tracks by which proteins and other cargo often packaged within vesicles may be transported

from one part of the cell to another³³. In fact, transport proteins like dynein³⁴ and dynactin³⁵ have been found at the centrosome. These motor proteins are well known to load and transport cargo within the MT network by "walking" on the MTs^{36-38} . This is expected since the centrosome is a well known MT organizing structure and may act as a hub within the cell to organize the logistics of cargo trafficking. It is also through this trafficking network that centrosomal proteins are delivered to their final destination where they can act and have a hand in the construction of the centrosome^{39, 40}.

1.2 Centrosomes in Mitosis

During mitosis, centrosomes replicate with the cell cycle in distinct stages. First, centrioles disengage and separate to form a mother and daughter centriole^{3,}⁴¹. Each mother and daughter centriole then undergoes duplication and elongation to each form a pair of centrioles^{3, 41}. Each pair of centrioles then mature and separate, migrating to opposite ends of the spindle poles during mitosis from which MTs extend¹³ to attach to the kinetochore of the chromosome and pull each sister chromatid into opposite ends of the cell¹⁴. This ensures proper chromosomal segregation and the integrity of cell division. These stages synchronize precisely with different stages of cell division⁴¹. Centriole disengagement coincides precisely with the G1 phase of mitosis, duplication and elongation of centrioles with the S-G2 phase of mitosis and finally maturation and separation of mother and daughter centrosomes with the M phase of mitosis⁴¹.

This synchronicity of the centrosome and cell cycle seems to indicate a possible role of the centrosome in cell cycle regulation. It has been shown that many proteins that localize to the centrosome are important for cell cycle progression and the activation of checkpoint responses^{32, 42, 43}. Cell cycle progression is a highly regulated process. To transit from one stage to the next requires the cell to achieve specific characteristics before advancing⁴⁴. For example, prior to mitosis, the cell has to "check" that the spindle is properly assembled before proceeding. This requires the activation of specific signals and the inhibition of others, which include the activation of checkpoint kinase 1 and the inactivation of Plk1 at the spindle assembly checkpoint^{42, 43}. If a cell is not ready to progress to the next stage, these checkpoint signals are not activated which results in cells arresting mitosis and waiting for conditions to be favourable before moving on⁴⁴. With each stage of the centrosome cycle coinciding with different stages of mitosis, the different characteristics of centrosomes at each stage of the cycle might possibly act as a checkpoint for mitosis as well as localize the factors that govern the admittance of the cell into the next stage of mitosis. This would strongly implicate the centrosome in cell cycle progression.

Neurogenesis in vertebrates also relies on asymmetric cell division to populate the neocortex with neurons and glia during development⁴⁵. The orientation of the spindle poles during neurogenesis is important⁴⁶. A horizontal axis with respect to the basement membrane of the neuroepithelium for division in neural progenitor stem cells allows for proliferation and self renewal by generating two identical neural stem cells, while a vertical spindle pole axis,

parallel to the basement membrane, would give rise to a neural progenitor stem cell and a neuron or glial cell and this allows for differentiation^{46, 47}. Perturbations in the orientation of this axis have shown to lead to overproliferation of neural progenitor stem cells and even tumour formation in *Drosophila*^{48, 49}. Hence, the positioning of the spindle poles during mitosis is vital for proper cell division.

1.3 Centrosomes at Interphase

At interphase, centrosomes are usually located adjacent to the nucleus and are known as major microtubule organizing centres^{1, 2} (MTOCs). The MTs anchored to the centrosomes extend into the cytosol to form the cell's cytoskeleton. The dynamic meshwork of MTs and actin filaments organized by the centrosome provides a support upon which the cell may maintain or change its shape. Maintaining cell shape is important for its function. For example, neurons need to be able to form axons and dendrites, specialized processes from the cell body, so that they may establish connections with other neurons to receive and transmit signals to and from the brain.

Changes in cell shape are also crucial for cell motility and polarization. These changes are often dictated by a family of small Rho-GTPases, like Rac, Rho and Cdc42. These small molecules control the formation and dynamics of the cytoskeletal network⁵⁰⁻⁵². The activation of this family of Rho-GTPases involves the addition of GTP to the protein by guanine exchange factors that replace GDP with GTP within the protein⁵³. Guanine activating proteins proceed to dephosphorylate GTP to GDP within the Rho-GTPase thereby deactivating it⁵⁴.

Rho-GTPases have been implicated in both actin and microtubule dynamics, with a significant body of knowledge devoted to their role in organization and formation of actin filaments into lamellipodia, actin projections that form a mesh located at the mobile edge of a cell, and filopodia, slender finger-like projections similarly found at the cell membrane^{55, 56}. Both lamellipodia and filopodia are commonly thought to provide the necessary traction during cell migration, spreading and adhesion⁵⁷. These changes at the cell periphery are also coupled with changes to the MT network within the cytosol. In combination, these changes to the actin and MT framework in the cell can result in changes in cell shape that not only contribute to motility, but to cellular function as well. The MT network is reorganized through depolymerisation and repolymerization of MTs in the cytosol and is integral in the formation of processes and extensions of the cell during adhesion and migration⁵⁸. With the high involvement of MTs in these processes and the MTOC abilities of the centrosome, changes to the MT and actin cytoskeleton organization are often thought to be orchestrated by the centrosome.

1.3.1 Cell Adhesion

When cells come into contact with the extracellular matrix (ECM), cell surface receptors like integrins and dystroglycan bind to their ligands within the ECM, which activate downstream targets like Rac, Rho and Cdc42, among other signalling pathways^{59, 60}. Activation of these proteins lead to the restructuring of the MT and actin cytoskeleton and the formation of lamellipodia at the edges of

the cell periphery in contact with the ECM⁵⁵. This allows the cell to spread and form strong contacts with its substrate which is apparent when astrocytes adhere to ECM proteins in vitro. In vivo, cell adhesion is important for astrocytes to be able to send out processes and contact neurons to serve in their supportive roles. Also, cell adhesion is required for the migration of cells throughout an organism. Providing cells a substrate to adhere to and move on would allow them to reach their final destination and carry out their specified functions. For example, neuroblasts have to migrate through the cortex to reach their final cortical layer where they make the necessary connections for proper brain function⁶¹. The neural network that is set up during nervous system development involves each axon connecting with their specific targets⁶². Axonal guidance is a highly specialized process that requires the adhesion and extension of a cellular process in the direction of its target⁶³. Directionality of the axon is determined by the secretion of a variety of different factors, including semaphorins⁶⁴ and netrins⁶⁵. These factors have been shown to change the shape of the growth cone of an axon^{64, 65} which is established by the centrosome-controlled MT network within the $axon^{66}$.

The physical modifications that take place in an adherent cell involve extensive changes in cell shape particularly during cell spreading after initial contact as reported in endothelial cells by Nobes *et al*⁵⁵. In some respects, astrocytes behave similar to endothelial cells in suspension. Cells are round in suspension but upon contact with a rigid substrate, they reorganize their MT network to spread the cell on the substrate⁶⁷. Astrocytes are also observed to

extend processes upon spreading and this requires the generation of MTs and rearrangement of the actin filaments to create the force necessary for the protrusion to form^{58, 68}. With the changes in the MT array observed during cell adhesion and spreading, it would be expected for the centrosome to be involved.

1.3.2 Cell Polarization

Cell polarity is important to create distinct specializations within different membrane and cytosolic domains for proper cellular function⁶⁹. For example, cells polarize during division so that they may divide asymmetrically⁷⁰. Epithelial cells are polarized to ensure that the different membrane domains of the cell possess specific characteristics, i.e. the apical versus the basolateral membrane, like the ability for unidirectional transport of substances through the cell⁷¹. During cell migration, the cell moves in a specific direction which would create a leading and trailing edge of the cell gives it polarity^{74, 75}. During cellular migration, these polarization events have been well characterized in astrocytes and fibroblasts⁷⁶⁻⁷⁸.

Polarization events during cell migration are commonly assayed in the scratch wound assay⁷⁹. This assay involves making a scratch through a confluent monolayer of astrocytes or fibroblasts⁷⁸. The scratch initiates cell polarization events in cells adjacent to the wound site and these cells would eventually migrate directionally into the wound site⁷⁸. These events include the reorientation of the centrosome and Golgi apparatus "woundside" in cells directly adjacent to the

scratch⁷⁸. A MT-rich process is then extended into the wound site which initiates the migration of astrocytes or fibroblasts into the wound⁷⁸.

The family of Par proteins have been heavily implicated in establishing cell polarity by segregating and localizing to specific areas within the cell⁸⁰. In particular, Par6 has been shown to be recruited to the apical surface of the cell membrane and tight junctions upon activation of Cdc42⁸¹. In a monolayer, the apical surface is considered the side of the cell that is not in contact with the substrate, while tight junctions are located at cell contacts within a monolayer. The accumulation of Par6 to these domains in the cell further recruits atypical protein kinase C (aPKC) and Par3 proteins⁸¹. Other Par proteins like Par1 not only localize to the lateral membrane of epithelial cells⁸², but also remove Par3 proteins from areas of the cell lacking Par6⁸³. This segregates the cell membrane into different compartments containing specific proteins. It is believed that this compartmentalization of proteins gives the cell its polarity by conferring distinct characteristics at the apical, lateral and basal domain of the cell surface.

Cell polarization gives directionality to a cell for movement. The spatial differences within a cell in terms of protein localization at the cell membrane create micro-domains such that the proteins localized within these domains exert only isolated effects at their targeted areas. For example, proteins located at the trailing edge of a moving cell would be enriched in proteins involved in the breakdown of adhesive structures, while the formation of adhesive structures would be required at the leading edge, thereby pulling a cell forward^{72, 75}. Also, opposing MT dynamics are observed in different parts of a moving cell. The

leading edge requires the distribution of specific proteins like integrin-mediated protein kinase A and profilin for MT polymerization^{84, 85}. Proteins for MT depolymerisation are required at the trailing edge; for example focal adhesion kinase (FAK), PDZ-Rho GEF and Rho effector Rho kinase II (ROCKII)⁸⁴⁻⁸⁸.

Characteristic events that occur in polarized astrocytes during the scratch wound assay are the reorientation of the Golgi apparatus and the centrosome "woundside" which has been shown to be regulated by extracellular signalregulated kinase (ERK)⁸⁹, a downstream target in integrin signalling⁹⁰. A protrusion is then extended into the wound with the centrosome and Golgi apparatus at its base⁷⁸. This process extension requires the rearrangement of MTs for its formation which is driven by the activation of Rho-GTPases^{87, 91}. Drugs like nocodozole and colchicine which disrupt MTs and MT dynamics have been shown to also disrupt process extension^{66, 92}. Also, perturbation of Cdc42 which controls actin dynamics disrupts both process formation and centrosome reorientation during cell polarization^{78, 93, 94}. However, an interesting finding was that disruption of Rac activity, another Rho GTPase similar to Cdc42, only inhibited process extension, leaving centrosomes to reorient normally woundside⁹⁵. Hence, it should be noted that a cell is said to be polarized depending on the position of its centrosome and Golgi apparatus and that cell polarization can occur in the scratch wound assay without the extension of a process⁹¹. It is likely however that the centrosome normally also plays a major role in this process extension since one of its main functions is to organize the MTs within a cell. The nucleus may then be pulled into this MT-rich process

which is necessary for the migration of the cell into the wound site or during neurogensis^{93, 96}.

Cdc42 and Rac have been implicated in the processes of cell adhesion and polarization. Activation of these small Rho-GTPases is triggered upon the engagement of cell surface receptors, like integrins, by their ligands on either the ECM or an adjacent cell's surface⁵⁹. This shows the importance of cell-matrix and cell-cell interactions to modulate the plethora of signalling cascades that control the physical characteristics and behaviour of a cell. Since the behaviour of the centrosome is also precisely coordinated during these processes, the activation of these signalling processes during initial cell receptor engagement might be responsible for the observed changes in centrosomal dynamics.

1.3.3 Cell Migration and Motility

During cellular migration, the centrosome has been observed to localize toward the leading edge of the moving cell⁹⁷. In migrating neuroblasts, a process is extended in the direction of the movement and the centrosome has been often observed to localize to the base of that process⁹⁸. This is followed by the movement of the nucleus which seems to follow the centrosome into the extended protrusion^{99, 100}. It was thought that the centrosome acted as a steering mechanism and chose the direction in which a cell moved^{101, 102}. However, it has been shown that nuclear movement is independent of the centrosome¹⁰³ and that the centrosome does not dictate direction in which a cell moves, but rather stabilizes the chosen direction¹⁰⁴. It is hypothesized that this stabilization is achieved by the

centrosome's ability to control MT dynamics and anchor the microtubular network to stabilize movement in a given direction^{104, 105}. It is these MT dynamics that give the cell traction on its substrate and generates enough force for it to move.

Another interesting hypothesis is that the MTs might have a role in pulling the nucleus through the cell during migration^{106, 107}. As mentioned previously, the MT network is used in transport of proteins and organelles within the cell. Similarly, the nucleus might be transported this way during nuclear migration. Nuclear migration is not only important during migration of the cell, but also to position the nucleus specifically within the cytosol for proper functioning⁹⁶. In neurons, the position of the nucleus contributes to specific neuron morphologies which are important for setting up proper brain architecture and allows neurons to tile and make proper connections¹⁰⁸. Nuclear migration defects have been observed in lissencephalic (smooth brain) patients suggests that nuclear position is vital for proper migration of neurons in the developing brain¹⁰⁷. Recent work has shown that the centrosome is linked to the nucleus via interactions of nuclear lamins between the PCM and the nuclear envelope¹⁰⁹. This directly tethers the nucleus to the centrosome and in turn¹¹⁰ MTs, which might allow for nuclear transport.

Changes in the MT and actin network also contribute to the movement of growth cones during axonal guidance¹¹¹. It has been reported that the centrosome is seen at the base of nascent axons which would indicate a role for the centrosome in coordinating the MT network required for the axonal projection⁹⁸.

This is important for neurons to guide their axons so that they may find their specific target and form the connections required for neural networks to carry out their functions.

1.4 Centrosomal Signalling

The centrosome has also been heavily studied in multiple signalling pathways. Aurora A, a serine/threonine kinase, is localized to the centrosome and is implicated in spindle body formation during mitosis^{30, 112}. Cells overexpressing Aurora A show centrosomal amplification and multi-polar spindle formation which indicates its function in centrosomal maintenance and segregation¹¹³⁻¹¹⁵. In fact, activation of Aurora A has been implicated in spindle assembly as it was observed to regulate MT nucleation by recruiting the factors necessary for the formation of asters, the MT extensions projecting from the spindle poles responsible for separating chromosomes during mitosis¹¹⁶.

Another protein that is also localized to the centrosome is ILK³¹. ILK or integrin linked kinase is commonly found in focal adhesions and it physically interacts with the cytoplasmic domain of β -integrins^{117, 118}. ILK is a protein that is well known in focal adhesion signalling and has been shown to be activated upon cell adhesion where it transduces signals for integrin signalling activation which will be discussed later^{118, 119}. In the centrosome, ILK seems to have a novel role in the organization of spindles during mitosis and inhibiting ILK disrupts proper spindle formation³¹. The Dedhar lab showed that a consequence of ILK inhibition is Aurora A inhibition. Aurora A activity has been previously shown to be very

important for proper centrosomal function³¹. Plk-1 is another example of a centrosomal protein and has been implicated with β 1-integrins in carcinoma invasion of tissue¹²⁰. The function of Plk-1 in the centrosome seems to be to recruit γ -TuRCs so that MTs may anchor to the centrosome^{121, 122}. It has also been shown to regulate localization of Aurora A to the centrosome¹²³.

1.5 Integrins

A protein family that has been implicated in cell adhesion, migration and polarity are the integrins. Integrins are $\alpha\beta$ heterodimers that are known to have both structural and signalling roles¹²⁴. There are 18 known varieties of α -subunits with 8 known β -subunits¹²⁵. Different combinations of α - and β -subunits produce 24 known integrins, with each heterodimeric combination of integrin having specific ligands and functions¹²⁵. As an example, $\alpha 1\beta 1$ is known to engage laminin and collagen^{110, 126} and has been found to be expressed in neurons and implicated in the formation of point contacts which are important in growth cone motility¹²⁷⁻¹²⁹. ECM proteins like laminin, fibronectin and vitronectin are common receptors for many integrins¹³⁰⁻¹³². Upon binding their corresponding ECM ligands, integrins are known to cluster and form focal adhesions and point contacts^{129, 133}, with point contacts being approximately 10 times smaller than focal adhesions¹³⁴⁻¹³⁶. Both types of adhesive contacts are associated with a complex of proteins that links the ECM to the actin cytoskeleton and activates a plethora of signalling pathways which have many effects on protein expression and cell behaviour. In addition to ECM proteins, integrins have also been shown

to interact with cell adhesion molecules like N-cadherin where they mediate similar functions to that of ECM protein interactions¹³⁷.

1.5.1 Focal Adhesions

When focal adhesions are visualized by immunocytochemistry, they appear as dash-shaped protein aggregations at the cell surface in contact with a substrate (Figure 5A, top row left two panels). These protein complexes are usually seen throughout cells that have adhered and bound to substrates like laminin and fibronectin (Figure 5A, top row left two panels). Integral proteins found within some focal adhesions are the β 1 integrins, α 5 β 1, α 6 β 1 and α 7 β 1 to name a few ^{125, 136} and the β 3 integrin, α V β 3¹³⁸. These integrins are known to have both structural and signalling roles within focal adhesions. Integrins span the cell surface membrane to form a physical link between the actin cytoskeleton and ECM and are also detectors and transducers of environmental signals^{125, 133, 139}.

Extracellularly, integrins within focal adhesions engage ECM proteins, like fibronectin, laminin, etc., before interacting with talin¹³³, paxillin^{140, 141} and vinculin¹³³ intracellularly. This bridge between the external and internal environment of the cell allows it to adhere, maintain a specific morphology and move on different substrates. The formation of these adhesive structures at the leading edge of a moving cell, coupled with the release of adhesions at the trailing edge, allows cells to move across substrates¹⁴². In addition, these protein complexes activate different signalling cascades, some of which will be discussed later¹²⁵. These pathways are known to direct protein transcription¹⁴³, cytoskeletal

dynamics^{59, 144} and even cell cycle regulation^{90, 112, 117}. Some signalling molecules shown to localize to focal adhesions are FAK and ILK, as mentioned previously.

1.5.2 Point Contacts

Point contacts are smaller than focal adhesions and form a punctate staining pattern at the cell surface¹³⁶. $\alpha 1\beta 1$ integrin is the primary integrin heterodimer found in point contacts^{135, 136}. Interestingly, it seems that focal adhesions are borne from the clustering of point contacts¹³⁶. This phenomenon is observed in astrocytes where upon initial attachment, astrocytes rapidly form point contacts containing $\alpha 5\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$ and $\alpha 1\beta 1$ integrins¹³⁶. However, those containing solely $\alpha 5\beta 1$ and $\alpha 6\beta 1$ integrins further aggregate to form focal adhesions¹³⁶. The remaining point contacts do not undergo anymore clustering and remain as punctate structures at the cell membrane¹³⁶.

Likewise, proteins like paxillin and vinculin have been shown to localize heavily to point contacts in growth cones¹³³, in addition point contacts in astrocytes have been shown to contain clathrin¹³⁵. Within point contacts, integrins may perform a similar function for structural integrity in creating a physical bridge that joins the external ECM to the internal actin cytoskeleton¹³⁵. Since these point contacts form rapidly, it is thought that these adhesive structures form to first bind the cell to a substrate and start the adhesion and cell spreading process, while focal adhesions formation occurs subsequently to strengthen adhesion and initiate different signalling pathways¹³⁶. In astrocytes, point contacts are observed to form at the cell periphery prior to the formation of focal

adhesions¹³⁶. Point contacts also activate signalling pathways. It has been reported that RhoA and RhoB localize to point contacts which would imply the activation of Rho signalling from point contacts¹⁴⁵. In addition, FAK was reported to localize to point contacts in growth cones and is essential for growth cone guidance¹⁴⁶. It has been hypothesized that the activation of these signalling pathways play a role in axon pathfinding¹⁴⁵. However, little is known about other signalling pathways that might be activated exclusively from point contacts.

1.6 Integrin Signalling

Along with their structural roles, integrins are well known to activate a variety of different signalling cascades from both focal adhesions and point contacts^{59, 146}. These pathways regulate apoptosis¹⁴⁷, cell differentiation¹⁴⁸ and migration¹⁴⁹ which change the behaviour of a cell depending on its environment.

1.6.1 Focal Adhesion Kinase

FAK is a very well known signalling molecule that is found in abundance at both focal and point contacts^{146, 150}. FAK has been shown to bind the cytoplasmic domain of β -integrins *in vitro*¹⁴⁰. Upon focal adhesion formation and the engagement of β -integrins to their ligands, FAK is activated by the phosphorylation of tyrosine-397¹⁵¹. This phosphorylation event triggers the activation of signalling cascades that are downstream from FAK¹⁵¹. These include the Rho-GTPases, Cdc42 and Rac, and the mitogen-activated protein (MAP) kinase pathway¹⁵². The Rho GTPases control actin dynamics and the formation of

lamellipodia and filopodia at the leading edge of a moving cell^{52, 91, 153}. Motile cells undergo changes in cell shape which are brought about by changes in the MT array within a cell to accommodate the movement along a substrate⁸⁶. Hence, with the ability to organize the MT network within a cell, the centrosome might be implicated in coordinating these changes.

FAK seems to be important in cell adhesion and migration as cells lacking FAK are slow to spread upon attachment and also show decreased migration^{154, 155}. The kinase activity of FAK is vital to these processes as rescuing FAK-deficient cells with a kinase dead FAK showed no improvement of the phenotype^{154, 156, 157}. It is presumed that the observed impediment to spreading and reduced migration of cells with FAK inhibition is due to the disruption to signalling proteins downstream from FAK. During migration, focal adhesions are assembled at the leading edge and broken down at the trailing edge of the cell^{88, 158, 159}. FAK has been implicated in this focal adhesion turnover¹⁶⁰, hence perturbing FAK function leads to disruption of cellular migration, with further evidence pointing in particular to the changes in Rho activity as the main cause of this effect¹⁵³.

However, an interesting result is that FAK-null flies are viable and develop without obvious anomolies¹⁶¹. They do not exhibit any defects in integrin signalling and cell adhesion¹⁶². FAK-null mice show embryonic lethality with severe adhesion defects^{149, 163}. These opposing results might indicate a divergence of FAK requirement during development between mice and flies and may arise due to compensatory mechanisms that are present in flies compared to mice which would explain the absolute necessity of FAK in mice and not flies. In other

Drosophila results, it has been shown that FAK deficient flies exhibit abnormal optic stalk development and glial function^{162, 164} as well as faulty synaptic transmission and axonal conduction¹⁶⁴. Also, with FAK being an upstream activator for the MAP kinase pathway, the loss FAK function leading to MAP kinase suppression causes the overgrowth of neuromuscular junctions in flies¹⁶⁵. While FAK seems to be non-essential to flies during its development, this protein is still important for the proper functioning of the organism. Interestingly, Pyk2, a FAK-related protein tyrosine kinase, has been reported to compensate for loss of FAK function. Activation of Pyk2 is often observed to be upregulated when FAK activation is disrupted and this might obscure the true function of FAK^{166, 167}. Consequently, we should be cautious when we proceed with investigating the role of FAK in these model organisms and the conclusions that may be drawn from the results with relevance to humans.

1.6.2 Integrin Linked Kinase

ILK is another protein kinase that has been shown to interact with the cytoplasmic domain of β -integrins¹⁶⁸. Similar to FAK, ILK is also activated upon clustering when focal adhesions are formed and their β -integrins engaged^{118, 169}. Both ILK and FAK have been shown to be important intracellular integrin binding proteins that facilitate the activation of some common downstream pathways like the Rho-GTPases^{170, 171} which regulate changes in cell morphology as dictated during cell adhesion⁵⁹. Other downstream targets of ILK include the protein kinase B signalling pathway which appears to be exclusively activated

through ILK and not FAK^{172, 173}. This pathway is involved in cell survival and proliferation¹⁷⁴.

Recent work in Dr Dedhar's lab has shown that ILK is required for the proper alignment of the spindle poles in cells undergoing asymmetric cell division^{31, 117}. Disruption to ILK function has shown abnormal mitotic spindle assembly and subsequent failure of DNA segregation during cell division³¹; this shows β 1-integrin signalling as possibly having an effect on centrosomal dynamics since integrins are the most well known activator of ILK. Interestingly, they show that ILK is localized to interphase centrosomes in human endothelial kidney 293 (HEK293) cells¹¹⁷. However, in our results, astrocytes showed no localization of ILK at the centrosome (Figure 8, bottom leftmost panel). This might be a cell specific phenomenon and hence, another objective would be to determine whether β 1-integrin signalling is an astrocyte specific requirement for centrosomal stability.

1.6.3 Other Proteins and Pathways

In addition to FAK and ILK, Yang and colleagues showed that activated Cdc42-associated kinase-2 (ACK2) is rapidly activated upon engagement of integrins through fibronectin, as well as when cells are attached to polylysine via charge interactions¹⁴⁴. This in turn highly activates Cdc42 which has been mentioned previously to be important in cytoskeletal dynamics and plays an important role during cell adhesion and migration. C-Jun kinase (JNK1) was also shown to be activated by ACK2¹⁴³. JNK1 is implicated in a variety of cellular
functions like cell proliferation, apoptosis and differentiation¹⁷⁵. Hence, its activation has far reaching consequences for cellular behaviour. ACK-2 is not the only regulatory protein upstream from JNK1. The MAP kinase pathway was also shown to activate JNK1 and is similarly activated by engagement of integrins¹⁷⁶. Other effects of MAP kinase include increased cell proliferation and regulation of protein transcription and localization^{177, 178}.

1.7 Previous Work

As mentioned previously in Section 1.3.2, the scratch wound assay has been used successfully by Etienne-Manneville and Hall to investigate the role of Cdc42 in cell polarization events^{78, 179}, thereby implicating integrins in the process. Using this model, previous work in the Carbonetto lab investigated the role of dystroglycan (Dg) and β 1-integrins in the scratch wound assay. Dg is a ubiquitous cell surface protein in the nervous system and muscle that is integral in dystrophin-associated glycoprotein complex^{180, 181}. Similar to integrins, Dg participates in a complex which enables the adhesion of a cell to a substrate via binding to ECM proteins like laminin^{180, 181}. This made both integrins and Dg likely candidates in the process of cell polarization. Results showed that astrocytes null for Dg or β 1-integrin did not extend processes into the wound site when a scratch was made indicating a possible role for Dg and β 1-integrin in cell polarization¹⁸². When stained for MTs, astrocytes lacking Dg or β 1-integrin showed the misorientation of MTs¹⁸². In wildtype astrocytes, MTs were observed to be oriented along the length of the process as it extended into the wound,

however, this orientation was lost in Dg-null and β 1-integrin null astrocytes¹⁸². Loss of specific MT orientation prevents the formation of the protrusion required for cell migration¹⁸². This led to the question of whether process extension was inhibited due to cells being unable to polarize or dysfunction in MT organization. Hence, using the centrosome as a landmark to show cell polarization through its reorientation, cells were stained with two major centrosomal proteins, pericentrin or γ -tubulin. Interestingly, staining for the centrosome in β 1-integrin null astrocytes, but not in Dg-null astrocytes, showed a disruption of centrosomal integrity (unpublished; Peng). Astrocytes lacking Dg still had intact centrosomes with only cell polarization of the centrosome partially disrupted¹⁸². Localization of pericentrin and γ -tubulin into a distinct focus is indicative of an intact centrosome, however, both pericentrin and γ -tubulin appeared diffuse throughout cells lacking *β*1-integrin and no distinct foci of either protein was observed (unpublished; Peng). Furthermore, similar results were obtained when β 1-integrin function was blocked using an antibody. This implicated β 1-integrin in the maintenance of centrosomal stability and revealed a novel pathway that seemed to control centrosomal integrity. It also gives us a way to disrupt the centrosomes so as to investigate the role of the centrosome in different cellular functions.

1.8 Objectives and Rationale of Work

The literature on centrosomes and integrins reflect some common themes between them, with both playing important roles in cell polarization and migration. This investigation suggests that the relationship between the

centrosome and integrins might be even closer than previously thought. We have shown that integrin signalling in astrocytes is important for centrosome assembly and maintenance. Specifically, a candidate emerges in the form of β 1-integrin signalling. We aim to further identify downstream signalling components involved in centrosomal stability. Better understanding of the centrosome will also reveal the role of this organelle in different cellular behaviours like polarization and migration.

In addition to studying cell polarization, the scratch wound assay with astrocytes has been used to model the formation of the astro-glial scar after central nervous system injury since the events that follow the scratch mimic events observed *in vivo* after nerve trauma^{183, 184}. The astro-glial scar creates a non-permissive environment for axons to reinnervate the trauma site¹⁸⁵. This involves both the polarization and migration of the adjacent astrocytes into the wound thereby preventing axons from remaking their previous connections to reestablish connectivity. Hence, understanding the role of the centrosome in this process would give insight into how therapeutics might be designed to allow for neuronal regeneration in the central nervous system after injury. Cell polarization and migration are not only important in astro-glial scar formation, but also during neuronal migration in the developing embryo. The brain architecture is important for neurons to set up the connections necessary to ensure proper brain function¹⁸⁶. The patterning of the brain architecture requires the controlled migration and morphology of neurons to their final destination so that appropriate connections

may be established¹⁸⁶. Without proper patterning, brain architecture is disrupted and its function lost.

The disruption of the integrity of the centrosome, resulting in the centrosome no longer retaining its single distinct structure adjacent to the nucleus in interphase cells, is observed in multiple cancer cell lines where these cells contain supernumerary centrosomes^{187, 188}. In order for these cell lines to proliferate, the multiple centrosomes have to coalesce such that proper cell division can occur with a single pair of mitotic spindle poles^{189, 190}. Studying the signalling pathways involved in centrosomal stability will give great insight into what controls aspects of the fundamental behaviour of this organelle. This research might also shed some light on how supernumerary centrosomes function in cancer cell lines during mitosis for the development of therapeutic strategies.

1.9 Summary of Results

The results from this study show that astrocytic centrosomes disassemble quickly upon detachment from their substrate, fibronectin, and assemble rapidly upon attachment to laminin, fibronectin, collagen and polylysine. β 1-integrin signalling is necessary for maintaining centrosomal integrity, with cell adhesion alone insufficient, and centrosome disruption was observed upon disruption of integrin signalling. We were able to eliminate both FAK and ILK as downstream components of β 1-integrin signalling involved in centrosomal maintenance. This was achieved by knocking down FAK activation via a FAK-related non-kinase (FRNK) dominant negative construct and a small molecule inhibitor, PF-228

(courtesy of Dr Tony Parsons, Pfizer) and staining for the centrosome to check centrosomal integrity. Similarly, total ILK expression has been knocked down using plasmid ILK siRNAs (ILK782 and ILK285) and Stealth oligomer ILK siRNAs (from Invitrogen). These knockdowns showed no disruption in centrosome structure, indicating that activation of FAK or ILK alone is not solely responsible for maintaining centrosomal integrity. Finally, using Secramine A, we were able to tentatively absolve Cdc42 from participation in centrosomal dynamics since no effect was observed upon application of the small molecule inhibitor. However, further confirmation of actual Cdc42 inhibition is pending.

Having a better understanding of the factors that control centrosomal stability will give insight into the importance of the centrosome in different cellular events, i.e. cell polarization and migration, as it allows us a way to disrupt the centrosome and observe the consequences of doing so. A disrupted centrosome is often seen in neuronal developmental defects and cancer. Knowing the signalling pathways involved with this phenotype will contribute to the better understanding of the disease mechanism and help in developing therapeutic strategies to combat these debilitating diseases.

2 Materials and Methods

2.1 Astrocytic Cell Culture

Primary rat astrocytic cultures are cultured from E17-18 embryos harvested from a Sprague Dawley pregnant female, while chick astrocytic cultures are derived from E14-16 embryos. The cortical regions of the brains collected from these embryos are isolated and their meninges removed. They are then dissociated in serum containing media by trituration. All astrocytic cultures are maintained in 10% fetal bovine serum (FBS from Wisent) in Dulbecco's Modified Eagle's Medium (DMEM from Invitrogen) and cultured on gelatincoated flasks. Purification of astrocytic cultures is achieved by shaking flasks at 200-250 rpm in DMEM enriched with MEM vitamin supplement (from Invitrogen) overnight. The remaining adherent cells are then 95-99% pure astrocytes since they are 95-99% glial fibrallary acidic protein positive, a protein specific to astrocytes (confirmed by Huashan Peng in the lab). Astrocytes are harvested from the culture flasks by lightly trypsinizing the cells with 0.1% Trypsin/EDTA (Wisent) for 5 min and then quenching the reaction with 10% FBS/DMEM. Astrocytes are centrifuged at 1000 rpm and resuspended in either serum-free media or serum-containing media depending on the objective of the experiment.

2.2 Plasmids and Oligonucleotides

Plasmids used in this study include myc-tagged FRNK (a gift from Dr Tony Parsons) for knockdown of FAK activation, ILK782 and ILK285 (a gift from Dr St-Arnaud, McGill University) for knockdown of ILK expression and p3.1 Silencer (a gift from Dr St-Arnaud), the backbone for the ILK constructs, was used as a negative control for ILK 782 and ILK 285. FRNK acts as a dominant negative thereby interfering with FAK activation, while the ILK constructs are siRNA snapbacks that tag ILK mRNA for degradation.

To increase the amount of plasmid, plasmids are transformed in DH5 α competent cells by first mixing the cells and about 200 ng of plasmid in ice for 30 min, followed by a 2 min incubation at 42°C. The cell/plasmid mixture is then placed on ice for an additional 2 min before being added to LB media. Cells are placed on a shaker at 37°C and allowed to grow for 1h. Transformed cells are then spun down and inoculated on ampicillin containing LB agar plates. Successfully transformed cells are then allowed to grow on the plates for 12-18h. Single colonies are then picked and grown in large LB cultures. Plasmids are then isolated using the Qiagen MidiPlasmid kit. Concentration and purity of plasmid yield is determined using a photospectrometer, while plasmid size is confirmed by gel electrophoresis.

ILK Stealth Oligo siRNAs (ID RSS# 301329-301331) are used to knockdown ILK expression, Block-It Alexa RFP oligonucleotides to test for transfection efficiency and Stealth Universal Control with medium GC content is ordered from Invitrogen. The sequence of RSS# 301329 is ACGCACUCAAUAGCCGUAGUGUAAU, RSS# 301330 is GGACCAGAGCCAAGCUGUAAAGUUU and RSS# 301331 is

CCCACGUGUGUAAGCUCAUGAAGAU. These constructs are used as specified by the manufacturer.

2.3 Cell Adhesion Assays

Glass coverslips are first UV irradiated for more than 15 min and then coated with different proteins/polyamino acids for 45 min or overnight at 37°C depending on the requirement of the experiment. Substrates used were laminin at $20 \mu g/mL$ (from Sigma), fibronectin at $10 \mu g/mL$ (from BD Biosciences), type 1 collagen from rat tails at 10 µg/mL (from Sigma), 0.1% gelatin in 1x phosphate buffered saline (PBS) or polylysine at 100 μ g/mL (from Sigma). Astrocytes are then harvested in serum free media and then applied to these treated glass coverslips in 24 well tissue culture dishes. Astrocytes are then incubated at 37°C and 5% CO_2 for different time periods and are fixed with either 4% paraformaldehyde (PFA) with 4% sucrose or methanol at -20°C for 10 min followed by 3 washes with PBS with the first wash being 10 min in length for the cells to rehydrate after methanol fixation. If PFA fixation was used, astrocytes are then permeabilized with 0.25% Triton-X-100 and washed 3 times with 1x PBS. Coverslips are then blocked with 10% BSA for 1h at RT or 4°C overnight. This is followed by 3 washes with 1x PBS before incubating the coverslips with the primary antibody in 3% bovine serum albumin (BSA) for 1h at RT or 4°C overnight. The primary antibody is then removed and the coverslips are washed 3 times with 1x PBS before the addition of the secondary antibody. The secondary antibody in 3% BSA is applied for 1h at RT and then replaced by DAPI at 0.1

μg/mL: for 10 min at RT. Coverslips are washed 3 times with 1x PBS and then water. They are then mounted on glass slides with SlowFade Gold mounting medium (Invitrogen) and the coverslips sealed with clear nail varnish. Epiflourescence microscopy is then used to visualise the cells. The adhesion assay is used to test the effects of drugs and small molecule inhibitors on centrosomal assembly and maintenance. A drug or small molecule inhibitor may be applied to the astrocytes in suspension before plating on the coverslips to test its effect on centrosome assembly, or directly to the well after astrocytes are adhered to the coverslips to test centrosome maintenance.

2.4 Cell Dissociation Assay

Glass slides are coated with 100 μ g/mL polylysine and allowed to dry at 37°C. Astrocytes are then harvested in serum free media and left in suspension at 37°C and 5% CO₂ for different periods of time. Cells are centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 min and washed with 1x PBS before resuspended in 4% PFA for 10 min. Astrocytes are then washed and resuspended in 1x PBS, smeared on a polylysine coated glass slide and allowed to dry. 0.25% Triton-X-100 is then applied directly on the glass slide and used to permeabilize the cells for 10 min. Cells adhered to the glass slide is then washed with 1x PBS 3 times. This is followed by 10% BSA to block non-specific antigens for 1h at RT or at 4°C overnight. Primary antibodies are diluted in 3% BSA and applied for 1h at RT or 4°C overnight, then washed 3 times with 1x PBS. Secondary antibodies in 3% BSA are applied for 1h at RT followed by a similar wash. DAPI at 0.1 μ g/mL is then added for 10 min

and cells are washed with 1x PBS and water before a small drop of SlowFade Gold is applied. A glass coverslip is then mounted on the slide and sealed with clear nail varnish. Epiflourescence microscopy is then used to visualise the cells.

2.5 siRNA Plasmid and Oligo Transfection

Astrocytes are grown on gelatin coated glass coverslips to 80-90% (plasmid) or 50-60% (oligo) confluency. 1-3 h before transfection, media are changed to serum and antibiotic free DMEM. For each well, 1.5 μ L (plasmid) or 1 μ L (oligo) Lipofectamine 2000 (from Invitrogen) is incubated in 50 μ L serum free media for 5 min. In a separate microfuge tube, 200-400 ng of plasmid or 40-80 nmol of oligos are added to 50 μ L of serum free media. The Lipofectamine 2000 and plasmid or oligo mixture are then added together in equal volumes and incubated at RT for 20 min. After this incubation, the mixture is added directly to the well. Cells are harvested 48h or 24h after transfection by fixation with 4% PFA or methanol at -20°C for 10 min. If PFA fixation is used, cells are permeabilized with 0.25% Triton-X-100 for 10 min. Coverslips are then blocked, stained, mounted and visualised as mentioned previously in the adhesion assay.

2.6 Drugs and Small Molecule Inhibitors

PF-228 is a gift from Dr Tony Parson's lab and Pfizer. It is used to inhibit the activation of FAK and is shown to be effective when applied to well-adhered astrocytes at 10 μ M for 4 h¹⁹¹. Secramine A is a gift from Drs Kirchhausen and Hammond and used to knockdown activation of Cdc42¹⁹². Secramine A is used at

the comparable concentration of 10 μ M for 1-4h as reported previously^{192, 193}. Each of these molecules is used to test their effect on the centrosome in attached astrocytes. Astrocytes are allowed to attach to gelatin coated glass coverslips for 4h in 10% FBS containing media. The media is then changed to serum free media containing the appropriate concentrations of each drug or molecule with dimethyl sulphoxide. These cells are allowed to incubate for various lengths of time before cells are fixed by paraformaldehyde or methanol at -20°C. Coverslips are then similarly processed as mentioned in the Adhesion Assay.

2.7 Antibodies

Primary antibodies used are anti- γ -tubulin (monoclonal from Sigma (clone GTU-88: T6657) and polyclonal from AbCam (ab11317), both at 1:500), pericentrin (from Covance (PRB-432C), 1:250), ILK (from AbCam (ab2283), 1:200), FAK397 which specifically tags activated FAK phosphorylated at tyrosine 397 (y-397) (from Invitrogen (44-624G), 1:500), vinculin (from Sigma, 1:100), JG22, a chick specific β 1-integrin function blocking antibody, (from Developmental Studies Hybridoma Bank, 1:500 to stain, 1:50 to block function) and β 1-integrin antibodies produced in the lab (β 1-N, a polyclonal rat specific β 1-integrin function blocking antisera produced with the entire β 1-integrin subunit, as well as an antiserum to the β 1-integrin peptide, both at 1:1000).

Secondary antibodies used are donkey anti-mouse Alexa Flour 488, 555 (from Invitrogen, all at 1:1500) and goat anti-mouse rhodamine (from Jackson Laboratories, 1:1500).

3 Results and Conclusions

3.1 Centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes are in suspension.

If β 1-integrin signalling is important for centrosome maintenance, the disengagement of integrins when cells detach from their substrate should cause the disassembly of the centrosome. Upon detachment of astrocytes from their substrate, centrosomes were observed to disassemble rapidly within 1 hour (h) (Figure 2A, second panel, and 2B). This disassembly was detected by a failure of γ -tubulin or pericentrin to localize to a distinct focus. Over 4h in suspension, it was noted that both γ -tubulin and pericentrin staining become more diffuse indicating the full disassembly of the centrosome (Figure 2A, rightmost panel). This process seemed to occur relatively quickly, with 70-80% of astrocytes surveyed having no centrosome within 1h of detachment (Figure 2B). By 4h, only approximately 7% of cells still had centrosomes (Figure 2B). Centrosomes that persisted appeared considerably smaller than those at earlier timepoints. From these results, it seems that the detachment of astrocytes from their substrate is sufficient to disassemble centrosomes.

3.2 Centrosomes assemble rapidly on a variety of substrates.

Next, the kinetics of centrosome assembly was studied. Understanding the kinetics of centrosome assembly would allow for a better idea of the time frame that assembly occurs in and the steps the cell undergoes to form an intact centrosome. Astrocytes were maintained in suspension for 2h prior to cell adhesion to ensure disassembly of the centrosome. Centrosomes were detected in



Figure 2: Centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes are in suspension.

Figure 2: Centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes are in suspension.

Upon detachment from the substrate by gentle trypsinization, astrocytes in suspension for up to 4h disassembe their centrosomes (A). Centrosomes were detected with pericentrin (green) and γ -tubulin (red) staining. Before detachment, almost 100% of astrocytes contained an intact centrosome (B). Over time, both pericentrin and γ -tubulin staining became more diffuse within the cytoplasm of the cell while losing their co-localization (A), indicating the disassembly of the centrosome. This disassembly seemed to occur relatively rapidly, with up to 70-80% of astrocytes losing their centrosome within 1h after detachment (B). Astrocytes showed maximal disassembly of centrosome after 2-4h in suspension, with less than 10% of cells containing intact centrosomes (B).

astrocytes adherent to laminin, collagen, fibronectin and polylysine as early as 10min after cells were applied to coated glass coverslips (Figure 3A, leftmost column). Over the course of 4h, cells were observed to spread on each substrate and their centrosomes appeared more focused with a tighter concentration of centrosomal proteins stained adjacent to the nucleus (Figure 3A). Within 10 min, 50-60% of astrocytes had well-formed centrosomes that formed distinct foci (Figure 3B). By 4h, 70-80% of astrocytes observed had obvious centrosomes (Figure 3B). There was very little significant differences in centrosome assembly between the different substrates tested and astrocytes on each substrate assembled centrosomes at similar rates (Figure 3B).

3.3 β 1-integrin ligation is necessary for centrosome assembly and maintenance.

In order to test the requirement for β 1-integrin ligation in centrosomal assembly, rat astrocytes were incubated in suspension 1 h before being plated on polylysine coated coverslips with the β 1-N antibody, a polyclonal antibody that targets β 1-integrins at the cell surface and blocks their function. Incubation of cells in suspension was to ensure that β 1-integrin signalling is blocked with the antibody and also that astrocytes disassembled their centrosomes before attachment. Cells adhered and spread on polylysine and showed disrupted centrosomes (Figure 4A, top row). Polylysine allowed for the attachment of cells via charge interactions, an integrin independent manner, since the disruption of integrin function disrupts cell adhesion to substrates such as fibronectin and





Figure 3: Centrosomes assemble rapidly on a variety of substrates.

Figure 3: Centrosomes assemble rapidly on a variety of substrates.

Astrocytes were in suspension for 2h before being plated in substrate coated coverslips. Centrosomes were identified by staining for pericentrin (green) and were observed to form foci as early as 10 min after attachment on all substrates tested (A) in 50% of the cells observed (B). Over the course of 4h, pericentrin staining accumulated and focused tightly adjacent to the nucleus in astrocytes on all substrates tested (A), with upwards of 70-80% of astrocytes containing well formed centrosomes.. At 10 min, centrosomes appeared as a hazy dot adjacent to the nucleus (A, leftmost column), but over 4h, this hazy dot coalesced to form a tighter and more distinct focus (A, rightmost column). There was very little significant difference observed in astrocytic centrosome assembly among all the substrates tested, collagen, fibronectin, laminin and polylysine (B). The only significant difference was observed at 1h between centrosome assembly observed in cells on laminin and polylysine (B, * p < 0.01). This difference was not considered of importance as it was the only difference observed across all time points and substrates tested and was hence disregarded. Although there was no significant difference between different timepoints, we hypothesize that the centrosome is assembling since we reported that the majority of centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes detach from their substrate and are maintained in suspension for 2h, making minimal number of cells containing centrosomes before they are applied to the glass coverslip.



Figure 4: ß1-integrin signalling is necessary for centrosome assembly and maintenance.

Figure 4: β1-integrin ligation is necessary for centrosome assembly and maintenance.

Rat astrocytes were treated with β 1-N to block β 1-integrin function for 1h before cells were attached to polylysine coated coverslips. Blocking integrin function disrupts cell adhesion to substrates like fibronectin and laminin. Polylysine allows cells to adhere via charge interactions, instead of through an integrin dependent manner. Centrosomes (identified by pericentrin in green) were observed to form at 30 min in control cells treated with JG 22, a chick specific β 1-integrin function blocking antibody used as a negative control, or untreated astrocytes (A, bottom two rows), however in cells treated with β 1-N, centrosomes did not assemble and in fact continued to disassemble despite the fact that the cell had attached (A, top right panel). Pericentrin staining appeared disrupted compared to the tight foci observed in the controls and, over time, staining was seen in the cell periphery (A). Over time, β 1-N treatment caused increasing disruption of centrosome assembly and maintenance (B). Control (JG 22) treated and untreated astrocytes did not show any significant difference in centrosome assembly and was significantly higher than compared to those treated with β 1-N (B). Different chick cell types, brain, lung, muscle and skin, were treated with JG 22 to block β 1-integrin function and shown to disrupt the integrity of the centrosome (γ -tubulin in green) (C). γ -tubulin staining revealed multiple aggregates of the protein in the cytosol (C, bottom row) compared to the single foci in untreated cells. This experiment showed the requirement of β 1-integrin signalling for centrosomal stability independent from cell attachment and regardless of cell type and species.

laminin. Pericentrin staining was diffuse and often occupied a halo in the cell periphery as compared to the tight and distinct foci of pericentrin staining in untreated or JG22 treated cells which showed the centrosome adjacent to the cell nucleus (Figure 4A, top row compared with bottom 2 rows). Disruption of centrosomal integrity was observed as early as 30 min after plating the β 1-N treated astrocytes on coverslips with an increasing percentage of cells appearing to lose centrosomal stability over time (Figure 4A, top row, and 4B). Disruption of pericentrin staining initially appeared diffuse just surrounding the nucleus, but over time, migrated into the cell's periphery (Figure 4A, top right panel). Interestingly, the intensity of pericentrin staining also appears to increase over time with centrosomal disruption. This might indicate an upregulation of pericentrin production in response to the inhibition of β 1-integrin signalling.

The disruption of centrosome integrity when β 1-integrin function is blocked is not restricted to astrocytes. Dissociated cells from chick brain, skin, muscle and lung were attached to polylysine and treated with JG22, a chick specific β 1-integrin function blocking antibody. In all tissues sampled, JG22 treated cells showed no change in attachment to their substrate, but showed disrupted centrosomes. γ -tubulin staining appeared to be upregualated, with a higher staining intensity, compared with untreated cultures (Figure 4C). Also, aggregates of γ -tubulin were observed throughout the cell which appeared as supernumerary centrosomes (Figure 4C, bottom row).

These results allow us to conclude that β 1-integrin signalling is necessary for proper centrosome assembly and maintenance and that this requirement is not

restricted to astrocytes but is also vital for centrosome maintenance in other cell types, in particular the skin, muscle and lung cells. Having astrocytes welladhered to polylysine show centrosome disruption with β 1-integrin function blocked tells us that adhesion of astrocytes on a substrate is insufficient for centrosomal assembly and that β 1-integrin signalling seems critical for centrosomes to assemble and be maintained. Another important implication from this set of experiments is that this pathway seems to be conserved and is important across different species. Both rat and chick cells seem to require β 1-integrin signalling for the maintenance of their centrosomes. This conservation between different species would imply that similar mechanisms may be at work in humans as well. Knowing the importance of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosome dynamics in humans would give us a better understanding of the mechanism behind human diseases that result from centrosomal dysfunction.

3.4 Astrocyte attachment to different laminin fragments slows centrosomal assembly.

The E3 laminin fragment has been shown to engage dystroglycan^{194, 195} and sulfatide¹⁹⁵, but not integrins, while the E8 fragment engages $\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$ and $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrins¹⁹⁶⁻¹⁹⁹ (Figure 5A). The integrins engaged by E8 are found predominantly in focal adhesions and participate in well known integrin signalling pathways via FAK and ILK. In an attempt to confirm the necessity of $\beta 1$ -integrin signalling for centrosomal assembly and maintenance, astrocytes were



Figure 5: Astrocyte attachment to different laminin fragments slows centrosomal assembly.

Figure 5: Astrocyte attachment to different laminin fragments affects the rate centrosomal assembly.

Rat astrocytes were applied to coverslips coated with the E3 or E8 laminin fragment and centrosome assembly compared to that of astrocytes attached to full length laminin. E3 and E8 are domains within laminin that engage specific receptors, for example E8 is known to bind $\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$ and $\alpha 6\beta 4$ integrins and E3 to dystroglycan (A). No significant difference in the rate of centrosome assembly was observed in astrocytes attached to both E8 and full length laminin at 30 min and 1h after attachment (B). However, a slight significant difference (*: p < 0.05) in centrosome assembly was noted at 10 min between astrocytes on E8 and full length laminin (B). The difference could be attributed to cells' natural variation in centrosome assembly since no pre-incubation of cells in suspension was carried out before allowing cells to attach to their substrate, the results at this time point were disregarded. This difference in centrosome assembly between astrocytes attached to E8 and laminin was insignificant by 30min (B). Astrocytes attaching to E3 show an initial slower rate of centrosome assembly compared to E8 and full length laminin (B, **: p < 1%, left column, and C). However, assembly of the centrosome on E3 does eventually catch up with E8 and full length laminin after 1h (B, right column, and C).

plated on different laminin fragments, E3, E8 and full length laminin (Figure 5A), and stained for the centrosome with pericentrin. The E8 fragment is only known to engage 4 known integrin heterodimers, this allowed us to observe if these 4 heterodimers, $\alpha 3\beta 1$, $\alpha 6\beta 1$, $\alpha 7\beta 1$ and $\alpha 6\beta 4$, are sufficient to assemble centrosomes. At 30 min after plating, astrocytes adhered to E8 and full length laminin showed a significantly higher percentage of cells that contained distinct centrosomes as compared to that of astrocytes on the E3 laminin fragment, contrasting 70% seen in astrocytes on E8 to 40% observed in those on E3 (Figure 5B and 5C). However, after 1 h of attachment, no significant difference in the percentage of cells containing centrosomes was observed across all substrates tested (Figure 5B) and 4C).

From this, it seems that the E3 fragment while not directly engaging β 1integrins is able to activate the pathways necessary for centrosomal assembly and maintenance. E3 seems to activate these signalling pathways at a slower rate as compared with integrin binding to E8 or full length laminin. These results were surprising since we had previously shown the importance of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosomal assembly and maintenance and these results indicate that centrosomes still form even in the absence of direct engagement of β 1-integrin, it might be possible that β 1-integrins are being activated through an unknown mechanism upon the E3 engagement of dystroglycan. A possibility is that indirect *in cis* interactions between dystroglycan and integrins within the membrane activates integrin signalling^{200, 201}. It should also be noted that with the E8 fragment showing results similar to that of full length laminin, it would suggest

that integrins are the primary membrane signalling factor for centrosome assembly and maintenance.

3.5 Activated FAK and ILK localize to focal adhesions in astrocytes on fibronectin and laminin but not polylysine.

With the novel finding that β 1-integrin signalling is necessary for centrosomal assembly and maintenance, we next aimed to identify the downstream components in the integrin signalling pathways responsible dictating centrosomal dynamics. With much known about the downstream effectors of integrins, the top two candidates highly activated by integrins, namely FAK and ILK, were chosen to investigate their role in centrosome stability^{150, 155, 168}.

Astrocytes attached to fibronectin, laminin and polylysine were stained for activated FAK and β 1-integrin. After 1 h of attachment, β 1-integrin was observed localized to the edges of the cell periphery, at the lamellipodia, consistent with the findings of Tawil *et al.*¹³⁶ (data not shown). However, after 4h β 1-integrin staining showed clustering and the formation of focal adhesions when cells were attached to fibronectin and laminin (Figure 6A, comparing top left two panels). Similarly, activated FAK staining also showed very prominent localization to focal adhesions and colocalized extensively with β 1-integrins in cells adhered to fibronectin and laminin (Figure 6A, left two columns). This colocalization of activated FAK and β 1-integrin was not observed in astrocytes plated on polylysine (Figure 6A, rightmost column). In addition, no formation of focal





Figure 6: Activated FAK and ILK localize to focal adhesions in astrocytes on fibronectin and laminin but not polylysine.

Astrocytes were allowed to attach to different substrates for 4h and then stained with FAK-y397, a phosphorylated FAK antibody (Invitrogen), for activated FAK (magenta in A) and β 1-integrins (green in A) or ILK (magenta in B) and vinculin (green in B). Astrocytes plated on fibronectin and laminin formed focal adhesions as detected by β 1-integrin (A, top left two panels) or vinculin (B, top leftmost panel). β 1-integrin could not be used to detect focal adhesion when co-staining with ILK as both are polyclonal antibodies and are not compatible, hence vinculin was used instead. These focal adhesions co-localized excellently with activated FAK (in white in A, bottom row left two panels) or ILK (in white in B, bottom leftmost panel). However, when attached to polylysine, astrocytes do not form focal adhesions and show no co-localization between FAK-y397 and β 1-integrin (A, leftmost column) or ILK and vinculin (B, leftmost column). In fact, there appears to be a downregulation of activated FAK (A, middle rightmost panel) and ILK (B, middle rightmost panel). adhesions was observed in astrocytes attached to polylysine and β 1-integrin appeared to be localized to stress fibres throughout the astrocyte (Figure 6A, top rightmost panel). Only a low level of FAK activation was seen and activated FAK did not colocalize with β 1-integrin in cells on polylysine and appeared in punctate staining throughout the cell (Figure 6A, right column).

In a similar experiment looking at ILK localization, astrocytes were plated on fibronectin and polylysine. After 4 h of attachment, astrocytes were stained for vinculin and ILK. Vinculin staining labelled focal adhesions in cells plated on fibronectin (Figure 6B, top left panel). ILK showed a similar staining pattern and colocalized extensively with vinculin (Figure 6B, left column). ILK staining showed a punctate staining pattern with no focal adhesion formation, similar to FAK (Figure 6B, right column). In fact, vinculin staining showed no clustering or formation of focal adhesions as well (Figure 6B, top right panel).

Astrocytes attached to fibronectin and laminin engage integrins and initiate the clustering of β 1-integrins to form focal adhesions. The formation of these focal adhesions localizes other proteins to form a complex that is responsible for physical attachment and signal transduction. These proteins include vinculin, which serves a structural role in linking the ECM with the actin cytoskeleton and FAK and ILK for the activation of downstream signalling. The formation of these focal adhesions was not evident in astrocytes on polylysine. Furthermore, neither β 1-integrins nor vinculin colocalized with FAK or ILK in cells plated on polylysine (Figure 6A and 6B, rightmost columns). Consequently, we were unable to firmly conclude whether canonical signalling pathways like

FAK and ILK were activated on polylysine although this seems unlikely. Although the data seems to suggest that the activation of FAK and ILK on polylysine is unlikely as the staining intensity of both proteins in cells attached to polylysine is markedly reduced (Figure 6A and 6B), there is the possibility that the residual FAK and ILK activity observed in cells plated on polylysine might be sufficient for centrosome assembly. These results indicate that FAK and ILK might not be involved in centrosome regulation.

3.6 Inhibition of FAK activation has no effect on centrosomal integrity.

The first candidate to be studied in the involvement of centrosomal dynamics via integrin was FAK, since FAK is well known to be activated downstream from integrins. FAK activation was reduced by transfecting cells with a dominant negative construct, FRNK²⁰², using Lipofectamine 2000 (Figure 7B and 7C) or by applying PF-228, a selective small molecule inhibitor of FAK¹⁹¹ (Figure 7A). Both methods directly disrupt the phosphorylation of tyrosine-397 which is the primary site of phosphorylation of FAK that initiates downstream signalling. Astrocytes attached to fibronectin were treated with PF-228 at 10 µM for 1-4 h in serum free media to well-attached cells. PF-228 inhibits FAK activation, without affecting cell attachment to fibronectin (Figure 7A, red channel). At 1h, astrocytes still exhibited some FAK activation at focal adhesions as well as an undisrupted centrosome (Figure 7A, top row). After 4h of incubation with PF-228, there was virtually no detectable FAK activation anywhere in the cell (Figure 7A, bottom row). This was accompanied with a wholly intact



Figure 7: Knocking down FAK activation has no effect on centrosomal integrity.

Figure 7: Knocking down FAK activation has no effect on centrosomal integrity.

FAK activation of rat astrocytes was inhibited by treatment with PF-228 (A), a FAK inhibitor, or transfection with an expression vector encoding FRNK, a dominant negative construct of FAK (B and C). After incubating attached astrocytes with 10 µM PF-228 in serum free media, astrocytes were fixed and their centrosomes and FAK activation visualized. Focal adhesions with activated FAK were still observed after 1h of treatment with 10µM PF-228 (A, top row in red), but extensive knockdown of FAK activation was observed after 4h of treatment with 10µM PF-228 (see loss of FAK-y397 (red) staining (A, bottom row)). Astrocytes that showed a marked loss of FAK activation still showed intact centrosomes compared to their untreated counterparts (A, bottom row, white arrows). In astrocytes transfected with the FRNK expression vector (B, myctagged in green), the FRNK protein was localized to focal adhesions (B, bottom rightmost panel in green, and C rightmost panel in green) and showed reduction of FAK activation denoted by decreased staining of FAK-y397 compared to surrounding untransfected cells (C, comparing red staining in green-positive vs. green-negative cells). Astrocytes expressing FRNK also showed no disruption of centrosome integrity and appeared identical to astrocytes transfected with the vector alone (B, white arrows).

centrosome in all the astrocytes surveyed (Figure 7A, bottom row). The reduction of FAK activation by treatment with PF-228 was also documented biochemically. Activated FAK levels were detected by Western Blot analysis and it was revealed that PF-228 did significantly reduce FAK activation by about 95% (unpublished data; Boulos). This indicates that the activation of FAK does not have an essential role in signalling for the maintenance of centrosomal integrity.

To further confirm this conclusion, FRNK was expressed in astrocytes and shown to not disrupt focal adhesions; rather it acts as a dominant negative and inhibits FAK activation²⁰². Since the FRNK construct has been myc-tagged, it was visualized with an anti-myc antibody and shown to localize to focal adhesions (Figure 7B, bottom row). Co-staining with activated FAK reflected a reduction in activated FAK levels compared to the vector control (Figure 7C). In 15 transfected cells surveyed by eye, 12 showed marked reduction in FAK activation. However, all transfected astrocytes had normal centrosomes and showed no difference with those observed in untransfected or control transfected astrocytes (Figure 7B, comparing top and bottom rows). Results from these two experiments would eliminate FAK activation from the signalling pathway governing centrosome integrity.

3.7 Knocking down ILK expression has no effect on centrosomal integrity.

The next candidate investigated for its involvement in the maintenance of centrosomal integrity was ILK. Two different types of siRNA constructs were used to knockdown expression of ILK in astrocytes, plasmid constructs courtesy of Dr St-Arnaud, ILK 285 and ILK 782, and oligonucleotide constructs purchased from Invitrogen. Both types of constructs form short hairpins or double stranded RNAi targeting endogenous ILK mRNA for degradation in the cell. The primary difference between the plasmid construct and the oligonucleotide is that upon transfection, the plasmid construct has to be expressed in the nucleus where the siRNA hairpin is transcribed before it may target ILK mRNA, whereas the oligonucleotide does not require transcription and can act to target ILK mRNA immediately after transfection. Each of these plasmid and oligonucleotide constructs targets different parts of the ILK mRNA, hence using multiple constructs would allow us to confirm any effects observed and be confident that those effects are due to ILK knockdown and not from off-target degradation of functionally related mRNA species.

Positively transfected cells with the plasmid siRNA construct were cotransfected with a marker plasmid and centrosomes were visualized with antibodies against γ -tubulin or pericentrin. ILK localization was also visualized immunohistochemically. Astrocytes that were successfully transfected were identified by the expression of the marker construct, green fluorescent protein (GFP), following plasmid transfection or were assayed for reduced ILK staining and absence of focal adhesions following oligonucleotide transfection (Figure 8A and 8, middle row).

Astrocytes exhibiting GFP, indicating successful plasmid transfections, possessed intact centrosomes compared to control transfected cells (Figure 8B). In addition, the ILK levels within these cells also showed a marked decrease in ILK



Figure 8: Knocking down ILK expression with ILK siRNA plasmid constructs had no effect on centrosomal integrity.

Figure 8: Knocking down ILK expression with ILK siRNA plasmid constructs has no effect on centrosomal integrity.

Astrocytes were co-transfected with ILK siRNA plasmid constructs, ILK 285 or ILK 782, or with a control plasmid, p3.1 Silencer, and GFP by Lipofectamine 2000 for 48 h. p3.1 Silencer is the backbone plasmid of ILK 285 and ILK 782, without the ILK siRNA construct and hence when expressed in a transfected cell, would produce no siRNA construct. Astrocytes co-transfected with GFP and ILK 285 or ILK 782 showed marked decrease of ILK staining compared to the control (A). When sister cultures of transfected astrocytes were stained to visualise their centrosomes (B, in red and middle row), all cells observed had fully intact centrosomes with no loss in integrity compared to control transfected astrocytes (B). Positively transfected cells could not be stained simultaneously with ILK and the centrosomal marker due to constraints faced with quadruple labelling of the cells and so sister cultures were used to show the effects of ILK knockdown on both ILK expression (A) and the centrosome (B).



Figure 9: Knocking down ILK expression by ILK oligo siRNAs had no effect on centrosomal integrity.
Figure 9: Knocking down ILK expression by ILK oligonucleotide siRNAs had no effect on centrosomal integrity.

Astrocytes transfected with ILK 301330 and ILK 301331 for 24h showed visible reduction in ILK staining and an absence of focal adhesion in the majority of cells observed (top row). In astrocytes lacking focal adhesions and exhibiting a reduction in ILK staining (top row and bottom row in red), centrosomes did not show any disruption or loss of integrity (middle row and bottom row in green) and looked similar to astrocytes transfected with the negative control siRNA construct (leftmost column). This negative control siRNA construct was purchased from Invitrogen and is a scrambled siRNA construct with similar GC content to that of ILK 301330 and ILK 301331. This negative control siRNA construct has been guaranteed to not contain any off-site targets and ensures that no RNA knockdown occurs when this construct is transfected.

staining intensity compared to the control transfection (Figure 8A). Due to technical constraints of labelling cells with four antibodies, co-staining of ILK and the centrosome was not possible. In order to determine the effect of ILK knockdown on the centrosome, sister cultures were transfected with the ILK siRNA plasmids and stained for either ILK or the centrosome. Control transfection was carried out with the plasmid p3.1 Silencer which is the backbone of the ILK 285 and ILK 782 plasmids without the siRNA construct. A drawback to using p3.1 Silencer as a negative control is that the transfection of this construct alone might be insufficient to trigger the siRNA machinery within a cell which might have non-specific effects. An additional control should be added where astrocytes are transfected with an unrelated gene like GFP and a vector with a scrambled si RNA construct to ensure that there are no additional effects on the cell. With no centrosome disruption apparent in ILK siRNA transfected cells, this implies that ILK is not involved in the signalling pathway that governs centrosomal stability.

In a separate experiment using the ILK siRNA oligonucleotides in transfection, a lack of focal adhesions and reduced ILK staining indicated successful transfection. In addition, positively transfected cells showed no sign of centrosomal disruption and all cells observed possessed intact centrosomes (Figure 9). ILK levels in oligonucleotide siRNA, RSS#301330-301331, transfected astrocytes were visibly reduced (Figure 9, top row). Putting both these results together would indicate that the knockdown of ILK has no bearing

on centrosomal integrity and would imply that ILK is not a candidate in the signalling pathway necessary for centrosomal assembly and maintenance.

3.8 Perturbing Cdc42 activation with Secramine A has no effect on the centrosome.

Another well known downstream target of integrin signalling is Rho-GTPase, $Cdc42^{59}$. This places Cdc42 as a possible candidate in the signalling pathway downstream from β 1-integrin that regulates centrosomal stability. Incubating astrocytes with Secramine A would allow us to determine whether Cdc42 is truly in the pathway controlling centrosome maintenance. Previous work by Etienne-Manneville and Hall looked at disrupting Cdc42 function and its effect on cell polarization⁷⁸. Their results did not report any disruption to the centrosome even when the centrosome was used as a marker for cell polarization⁷⁸; knowing this, we would anticipate that Cdc42 is not downstream of β 1-integrin in this pathway that regulates the centrosome.

Cells attached to fibronectin and polylysine were then incubated with 20µM Secramine A for 1h. Secramine A is a small molecule inhibitor of Cdc42 and has been shown to reduce its activation by acting as a dominant negative^{192,} ¹⁹³. It has been previously reported that treatment of cells in culture with 20µM Secramine A for 1h selectively inhibits the activation of Cdc42¹⁹². Treatment with Secramine A also caused no changes in cell-substratum attachment compared with untreated cells and also did not appear to affect cell viability (Figure 10). The inhibition of Cdc42 after attachment might be the reason why no effect was

participate in cell adhesion²⁰³. Upon further inspection of centrosomes in astrocytes treated with Secramine A, they were intact and well-formed (Figure 10, bottom row in green). However, the direct confirmation that Secramine A causes Cdc42 inhibition in our hands is still pending. With confirmation of Cdc42 inhibition, this would exclude Cdc42 activation from the pathway involved in centrosomal stability and allow the investigation into other pathways that controls centrosomal integrity.



Figure 10: Perturbing Cdc42 activation with Secramine A has no effect on the centrosome.

Figure 10: Perturbing Cdc42 activation with Secramine A has no effect on the centrosome.

Astrocytes attached to fibronectin and polylysine were treated with either the vector (DMSO) or 20µM Secramine A in DMSO. Both control treated and Secramine A treated astrocytes on fibronectin and polylysine showed fully intact centrosomes with no loss of integrity (comparing top row to bottom row).

4 Discussion

4.1 Centrosome Kinetics

From the results attained thus far, we can conclude that centrosomes disassemble when astrocytes detach from their substrate and reassemble rapidly when they reattach. This is consistent with the finding that β 1-integrin signalling is important in centrosomal assembly and maintenance since β 1-integrin engagement is lost when cells detach and this inactivates the signalling necessary to maintain the centrosome. Upon attachment, β 1-integrin is re-engaged to activate β 1-integrin signalling and hence the centrosome reassembles.

4.2 Centrosomes Form on Polylysine

An unexpected result from the attachment of astrocytes to polylysine was that centrosome assembly was no different than in cells attached to integrin ligands, fibronectin or laminin. Polylysine is highly positively charged and with cell membranes being negatively charged, cells attach to this substrate through charge interactions alone²⁰⁴, no cellular receptors are known to be selectively or specifically engaged upon binding to polylysine. Hence, ligand-specific activation of β 1-integrins is not expected when astrocytes are attached to polylysine. We are still unable to explain this finding and hypothesize that β 1-integrins are being activated by some non-specific mechanism. Even more intriguing is the fact that focal adhesions do not form in astrocytes attached to polylysine, hence the β 1integrin signalling being activated specifically initiates centrosome assembly in a focal adhesion independent manner. Without focal adhesion formation in cells plated on polylysine, a possible avenue of activation is through point contacts. These smaller adhesive complexes were not investigated and at this time we are unable to determine their presence and activation on polylysine. A signalling pathway that seems to be activated through point contacts, and not focal adhesions, is the RhoA pathway¹⁴⁵, which is another possible signalling cascade to consider. An alternative possibility is through mechanotransduction that will be discussed later.

4.3 Ubiquitous Requirement of β1-integrin Signalling in Centrosome Assembly

 β 1-integrin signalling seems absolutely critical in the assembly and maintenance of the centrosome since blocking β 1-integrin function causes the centrosome to lose its integrity. β 1-integrin signalling may in fact be more important in the maintenance of the centrosome rather than initiating its assembly. This may be inferred from the loss of centrosomal integrity in β 1-integrin function blocked astrocytes over time. From the data (Figure 3A and 3B), we see 40% of astrocytes containing centrosomes and this declines over time, which might suggest that centrosome are attempting to assemble. However, the loss of β 1-integrin signalling prevents the maintenance of centrosomal integrity and hence we observe an increasing disruption in the centrosome over time. Another interesting conclusion that can be drawn from this experiment is that adhesion of astrocytes to a substrate is insufficient for centrosomes to assemble. Even with β 1-integrin signalling blocked, astrocytes adhered and spread on polylysine, but still had disrupted centrosomes.

The integrin involvement in centrosomal dynamics also seems to be conserved between rats and chicks and is not limited to a single cell type. This suggests a novel and fundamental importance of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosomal maintenance. A better understanding of the signalling pathways that govern the changes in centrosomal behaviour would contribute to our insight on diseases and disorders that involve aberrant centrosomal behaviour. For example, the evidence of supernumerary centrosomes in many cancer cells²⁰⁵ would suggest that perturbation of this pathway might contribute to the anomalies seen in cancer cells. Malignant cells exhibiting supernumerary centrosomes are observed to proliferate by coalescing their multiple centrosomes to form a bipolar spindle during cell division thus ensuring proper segregation of chromosomes and maintaining the genomic stability required for cell survival¹⁹⁰. Hence, this signalling pathway might become a potential target for the development of therapeutics for cancer treatment.

4.4 Laminin Fragments and Centrosome Assembly

However, the requirement of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosome assembly and maintenance is further complicated with the results from astrocytes attaching to different laminin fragments. Laminin fragment, E3, is not known to engage any integrins or activate integrin signalling cascades, rather it is known to engage Dg and sulfatide¹⁹⁵, other cell membrane receptors. Hence, cells attached to E3 were expected to similarly show disrupted centrosomes since β 1-integrin signalling activation was not expected. However, centrosomes did indeed form,

albeit at a slower rate as compared to astrocytes attached to E8 and full length laminin. This might be due to *in cis* interactions between Dg and β 1-integrins²⁰¹ that activate downstream signalling required for proper centrosomal assembly and maintenance. Such interactions would explain the delay in centrosomal assembly since β 1-integrins are not activated directly, but via dystroglycan engagement. Another plausible explanation is that laminin might be present on the cell surface which is sufficient for β 1-integrin engagement and activation. Presence of laminin molecules can be explained by carry over of laminin when cells are detached.

To determine whether dystroglycan is indeed activating β 1-integrins *in cis* and hence centrosome assembly, we may inhibit dystroglycan function by a Dg function blocking antibody, IIH6, in astrocytes and on polylysine, allowing for cell attachment, to see if centrosomes assemble. If Dg is in fact activating β 1-integrins through an *in cis* interaction, no assembly of centrosomes should be expected. As for the possibility of laminin molecules being retained on the cell surface during cell detachment, we may test this hypothesis by treating cells with a laminin blocking antibody before attachment. This would bind to laminin molecules on the cell surface and prevent its engagement of β 1-integrins. Without this indirect engagement of β 1-integrins, the loss of centrosome assembly would be expected when cells attach to the E3 laminin fragment.

4.5 Mechanotransduction of Integrin Signalling

The results thus far reveal a somewhat confusing picture of how β 1integrin signalling is involved in centrosomal assembly and maintenance. There is

an apparent requirement of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosome stability (Section 3.3) and yet instances where β 1-integrin signalling was not expected, i.e. during cell attachment on polylysine or E3 laminin fragment, centrosomes formed. This begs the question of whether β 1-integrin signalling is activated without the binding of specific ligands. This is where the idea of mechanotransduction might possibly fill the gap and explain what has been observed. Reports have shown that during ligand-binding cell adhesion, forces at the cell surface membrane are generated²⁰⁶. The phospholipid bilayer undergoes deformation when it comes into contact with its substrates and the cell starts to spread upon adhesion. It has been shown that this deformation produces forces that have been implicated in integrin clustering and activation of its downstream signalling²⁰⁷. We hypothesize that similar forces may be present when the cell surface comes into contact with polylysine and initial charge interactions attract the phospholipid bilayer and deforms it. It should be noted that the activation and possibly the conformational changes of integrins is still required for this signalling pathway to be activated and would explain the effects observed on the centrosome when integrin signalling is blocked.

A consequence of force generation during cell adhesion is that forcesensitive proteins which reside within the membrane would get activated and this may in turn initiate other downstream signalling pathways. A force sensing protein that has been discovered is p130Cas²⁰⁸, a cytoskeletal tyrosine kinase that is also highly featured in focal adhesions. P130Cas has been shown to activate Rap1²⁰⁸, a small GTPase, which is also known to activate integrin signalling via

Rap1-GTP interacting adaptor molecule (RIAM)²⁰⁹. RIAM in turn has been reported to bind to talin and conformationally activate integrin signalling²⁰⁹. We speculate that the forces generated during cell adhesion on polylysine are sufficient to activate p130Cas which results in eventual integrin signalling initiation through Rap1 activation. This would explain the assembly of the centrosome on polylysine and its requirement of β 1-integrin signalling for its assembly. It would be interesting to investigate whether this mechanism is responsible for the engagement of integrin signalling and results in centrosomal assembly. We might be able to achieve this by looking at the effect of knocking out p130Cas or Rap1 on centrosomal assembly and maintenance.

4.6 Downstream Signalling from β1-integrin

4.6.1 FAK and ILK

In an attempt to identify the direct downstream component of β 1-integrin signalling that is involved in centrosomal assembly and maintenance, the first candidates to be considered were the integrin-proximal proteins that are most well known in integrin signalling, namely FAK and ILK (Figure 11). To show their involvement, we first tried knocking down activation or expression of these molecules and observed the effect on the centrosome. However, even with the employment of different methods to knock down both activation of FAK, through dominant negative constructs and small molecule inhibitors, and ILK expression, through siRNAs, no disruption to the centrosome was observed. This implies that the signalling pathway governing centrosomal dynamics might be one that is less



Figure 11: Model for integrin signalling in centrosome assembly and maintenance

Figure 11: Model for integrin signalling in centrosome assembly and maintenance

Integrin ligation with ECM proteins like fibronectin, laminin and collagen or seemingly with polylysine via an unknown mechanism is necessary for centrosome assembly and maintenance. We hypothesize that β 1-integrin signalling is responsible for the initiation of the centrosome and its stability and attempt to determine the components of the signalling cascade downstream from β 1-integrin. The two candidates considered here are FAK and ILK which are prominent proteins in adhesion, migration, proliferation and survival and well known interactors of β 1-integrin. However, our results strongly suggest that FAK and ILK are not involved in centrosome assembly and maintenance. Cdc42 was also a possible candidate and when tested did not appear to be involved in centrosomal stability, although testing was not as rigourous. Current work is still underway, attempting to identify the downstream factor from β 1-integrin that is responsible for orchestrating centrsome assembly and its maintenance. well known. These findings, while unexpected, are consistent with the results we see from the experiments looking at FAK activation and ILK localization in astrocytes attached to polylysine. A reduction in FAK activation and ILK localization was observed in these cells, with the failure of these factors to aggregate to focal adhesions. It is believed that the clustering of these molecules when focal adhesions form is necessary for the activation of FAK and ILK. Hence, without clustering, we do not expect these components to be activated on astrocytes attached to polylysine and yet, centrosomes form normally. Although, we still need to investigate the possibility that these signalling pathways are being activated via point contacts. This might suggest that FAK and ILK are not strong candidates to transduce the signal for centrosome assembly from β 1-integrin (Figure 11).

It should be noted, however, that the knockdown of FAK activation in these experiments affected phosphorylation at site 397 only. There are multiple phosphorylation sites on FAK and while site 397 has been shown to be the primary site for activation, the site that is required for controlling centrosomal dynamics might differ¹⁵¹. This is provided that FAK need be phosphorylated at all for regulating the centrosome. The presence of FAK might be sufficient for governing centrosome stability and it would be informative to knockdown expression of FAK via siRNAs or the introduction of mutations.

4.6.2 Cdc42

In astrocytes treated with Secramine A, centrosomes were observed to be well formed and intact. Etienne-Manneville *et. al.* showed that perturbation of Cdc42 disrupts reorientation of the centrosome, but did not report any disruption of the centrosome itself⁷⁸. This would strongly imply that Cdc42 is not involved in maintaining centrosomal integrity which is what was observed from our experiment (Figure 11). Although the conditions employed in this study were identical to those reported showing effective knockdown of Cdc42 activation, confirmation of actual disruption of Cdc42 activation still needs to be made.

4.6.3 ACK2

Further exploration for possible candidates has opened a door to a number of possibilities. These include ACK2 which has been shown to be activated in NIH3T3 cells upon adhesion to polylysine¹⁴⁴. In fact, ACK2 has been shown to be activated without cell spreading, this might indicate early activation at initial contact of the cell with the substrate and would fit the centrosome assembly observed 10 min after cells were plated. ACK2 has also been shown to initiate filopodia formation which is important in cell adhesion and migration, as well as activating JNK1 which is highly involved in cell proliferation and apoptosis.

4.6.4 RhoA

Another candidate is RhoA signalling which is observed at point contacts. Although focal adhesions are not observed to be formed in astrocytes on

polylysine, we have not excluded the possibility that point contacts form. In fact, RhoA has been shown to be suppressed by FAK^{210} but is activated in point contacts¹⁴⁵. Since point contacts form upon initial contact of the cell with its substrate, point contact signalling might be switched on during early attachment¹³⁶. Point contact activation of RhoA plays an important role in axonal guidance and the control of the actin cytoskeletal dynamics involved. Since, the centrosome also plays a role in changes in cell shape and the organization of MTs within a cell, RhoA would be an intuitive candidate to consider downstream from β 1-integrin for centrosomal stability. RhoA signalling may be disrupted by a small molecule inhibitor, T-27632²¹¹, to test its effect on centrosomal stability.

4.6.5 Caveolin-1 and Paxillin

Caveolin-1 is yet another molecule that is highly associated with β 1integrin and participates in signal transduction²¹². Caveolin-1 is known to associate with the phospholipids bilayer to form caveolae, invaginations in the cell membrane²¹³. This is important for endocytosis and membrane transport²¹³. Caveolin-1 has also been shown to interact with integrins in focal adhesions and is believed to initiate specific downstream pathways upon integrin engagement²¹². This ability for signal transduction from β 1-integrin would make caveolin-1 a good prospect for study in the process of centrosomal assembly and maintenance. Similarly, paxillin is also associated and activated by integrin activation¹⁴¹ and should also be included for consideration as a component of the signalling pathway in centrosomal dynamics.

4.6.6 Src Family Kinases

An interesting group of kinases that should be taken into consideration is that of the Src family of kinases (SFKs). SFKs are known to be directly activated by integrins²¹⁴. This gives a candidate that is activated in parallel to both FAK and ILK and would be a good potential signalling pathway that regulates centrosomal stability. SFKs are well known oncogenes that control cell proliferation, motility, differentiation and adhesion as reviewed by Dehm and Bonham²¹⁵. SFK activation has been documented in numerous cancer lines²¹⁵. Their role in proliferation might belie a possible role in controlling the centrosome.

4.6.7 MAP Kinase

Finally, the MAP kinase pathway should be considered. Studies have shown that MAP kinase signalling can be activated with and without FAK activation^{216, 217}. The precise position of MAP kinase in the FAK independent pathway is still unknown but it provides an additional contender for controlling centrosomal dynamics without FAK activation. MAP kinase signalling may be downregulated by administering different small molecules like Arctigenin²¹⁸ to knock out activation of different components in the pathway. However, with this particular pathway controlling many different cell behaviours, any effect seen on centrosomal integrity would be confounded with the disruption of possibly unrelated factors. We would have to draw conclusions about such experiments with caution. Also, the possible candidates mentioned represents only a small subset of the signalling cascades that are involved with $\beta1$ -integrin. While integrin

signalling research is vast, we have narrowed down a few candidates to pursue in the near future. Once all these avenues are exhausted, we intend to employ a broader, less specific method to identify signalling molecules downstream from β 1-integrins that are also involved in centrosomal dynamics. The usage of RNAi libraries and broad spectrum inhibitors might give insight into candidates that were otherwise excluded from the list before. This allows for novel molecules to be discovered downstream from β 1-integrins.

4.7 Current and Future Work

Current work in the lab is investigating the requirement of β 1-integrin signalling *in vivo*. Using the embryonic chick retina, attempts have been made to disrupt β 1-integrin function with JG 22 and observe the behaviour of the centrosome under such conditions. We expect to observe disruption to the centrosome in tissue treated with JG 22. However, due to technical inconsistencies, we were unable to confirm this conclusion at the time of submission. Showing the importance of β 1-integrin signalling in centrosome stability *in vivo* would further validate the importance of this signalling pathway in centrosome dynamics.

Other work currently in progress in the lab is exploring whether integrin signalling without adhesion is sufficient to assemble the centrosome. This is being achieved by activating integrin in cells that are maintained in suspension with integrin-activating antibodies or peptides. If cell adhesion is not required for centrosome assembly, then integrin-activated cells in suspension would contain an

intact centrosome. This result would enable us to separate the requirement of integrin signalling in centrosome assembly and maintenance from that of integrindependent cell adhesion.

The two main questions that remain from this body of research are the unknown mechanism by which β 1-integrin is activated on polylysine and the downstream signalling cascade that β 1-integrin works to control centrosomal behaviour. We hypothesize that the mechanism at work for β 1-integrin activation on polylysine, where no apparent integrin is engaged, may occur via p130Cas/Rap1 which detects membrane forces that are generated during adhesion²⁰⁸. This is assuming that the deformation of the cell membrane during initial attachment generates forces large enough to be detected by p130Cas. This would explain why astrocytes attached and spread on polylysine still show centrosomal disruption when β 1-integrin signalling is blocked. Another possibility is that while focal adhesions do not form on polylysine, point contacts do. These point contacts will contribute to the activation of different signalling pathways upon attachment, with one of these pathways possibly contributing to centrosomal maintenance and stability. Although many signalling pathways are activated by focal contacts and point contacts alike, a more thorough look at the signalling pathways exclusive to point contacts might reveal more interesting contenders for participation in centrosomal dynamics. This leads us to the second major issue which is deciphering the specific cascade β 1-integrin employs to exert its effect on the centrosome. An excellent prospect would be RhoA signalling which appears to be activated at point contacts and not focal adhesions.

In an attempt to identify this pathway, we have essentially ruled out the two major contenders, FAK and ILK, as being involved. To reinforce their lack of involvement, we should next attempt to show that overexpression of these proteins would similarly have no effect on centrosomal integrity. This would show that both the inhibition and hyperactivation of both molecules have no effect on the centrosome in effect disallowing the possibility that the effect observed with β 1-integrin inhibition is a result of an imbalance of signal activation. This elimination of FAK and ILK as candidates, while unexpected, shows that a possibly novel pathway might be at work and more effort would have to be put in to elucidate the exact signalling pathway in question. Here, we have discussed other possible candidates that we plan to investigate in the future to determine if they have a role in dictating centrosomal behaviour.

Understanding these pathways would allow us a better appreciation of the processes and molecules necessary for controlling the behaviour of the centrosome. The centrosome is an integral organelle to the cell and controls many of the cell's behaviours like cell division, migration, polarization and adhesion as discussed here. Knowing what controls the centrosomal dynamics would enable us to better understand the processes that govern a cell's behaviour and how cells perform their many functions. In addition, with this insight into the mechanism that directs centrosomal dynamics, diseases which involve disruption to the centrosome would be better understood and potential avenues for therapy or treatments may be developed targeting these pathways.

5 References

- Watt, F.M. & Harris, H. Microtubule-organizing centres in mammalian cells in culture. *J Cell Sci* 44, 103-21 (1980).
- Karsenti, E., Kobayashi, S., Mitchison, T. & Kirschner, M. Role of the centrosome in organizing the interphase microtubule array: properties of cytoplasts containing or lacking centrosomes. *J Cell Biol* 98, 1763-76 (1984).
- Kuriyama, R. & Borisy, G.G. Centriole cycle in Chinese hamster ovary cells as determined by whole-mount electron microscopy. *J Cell Biol* 91, 814-21 (1981).
- Bahr, G.F. & Engler, W.F. Association of centrioles and chromosomes observed in preparations of whole-mounted human chromosomes. *Chromosoma* 63, 295-303 (1977).
- Bahe, S., Stierhof, Y.D., Wilkinson, C.J., Leiss, F. & Nigg, E.A. Rootletin forms centriole-associated filaments and functions in centrosome cohesion. *J Cell Biol* 171, 27-33 (2005).
- 6. Yang, J. & Li, T. Focus on molecules: rootletin. *Exp Eye Res* 83, 1-2 (2006).
- Anderson, R.G. The three-dimensional structure of the basal body from the rhesus monkey oviduct. *J Cell Biol* 54, 246-65 (1972).
- Cleveland, L.R. The Centriole and Its Role in Mitosis as Seen in Living Cells. Science 81, 598-600 (1935).

- Badano, J.L. & Katsanis, N. Life without centrioles: cilia in the spotlight. Cell 125, 1228-30 (2006).
- 10. Basto, R. et al. Flies without centrioles. *Cell* **125**, 1375-86 (2006).
- Schuh, M. & Ellenberg, J. Self-organization of MTOCs replaces centrosome function during acentrosomal spindle assembly in live mouse oocytes. *Cell* 130, 484-98 (2007).
- 12. Lloyd, C. & Chan, J. Not so divided: the common basis of plant and animal cell division. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 7, 147-52 (2006).
- Moritz, M., Braunfeld, M.B., Sedat, J.W., Alberts, B. & Agard, D.A. Microtubule nucleation by gamma-tubulin-containing rings in the centrosome. *Nature* 378, 638-40 (1995).
- 14. Rieder, C.L. The formation, structure, and composition of the mammalian kinetochore and kinetochore fiber. *Int Rev Cytol* **79**, 1-58 (1982).
- Carmena, M., Gonzalez, C., Casal, J. & Ripoll, P. Dosage dependence of maternal contribution to somatic cell division in Drosophila melanogaster. *Development* 113, 1357-64 (1991).
- Oliferenko, S. & Balasubramanian, M.K. Astral microtubules monitor metaphase spindle alignment in fission yeast. *Nat Cell Biol* 4, 816-20 (2002).
- Agabian, N., Evinger, M. & Parker, G. Generation of asymmetry during development. Segregation of type-specific proteins in Caulobacter. *J Cell Biol* 81, 123-36 (1979).



- Southall, T.D., Egger, B., Gold, K.S. & Brand, A.H. Regulation of Selfrenewal and Differentiation in the Drosophila Nervous System. *Cold Spring Harb Symp Quant Biol* (2009).
- Milhausen, M. & Agabian, N. Caulobacter flagellin mRNA segregates asymmetrically at cell division. *Nature* 302, 630-2 (1983).
- Jedrusik, A. et al. Role of Cdx2 and cell polarity in cell allocation and specification of trophectoderm and inner cell mass in the mouse embryo. *Genes Dev* 22, 2692-706 (2008).
- Yeh, E. et al. Dynamic positioning of mitotic spindles in yeast: role of microtubule motors and cortical determinants. *Mol Biol Cell* 11, 3949-61 (2000).
- Noctor, S.C., Martinez-Cerdeno, V. & Kriegstein, A.R. Distinct behaviors of neural stem and progenitor cells underlie cortical neurogenesis. *J Comp Neurol* 508, 28-44 (2008).
- 23. Knoblich, J.A., Jan, L.Y. & Jan, Y.N. Asymmetric segregation of Numb and Prospero during cell division. *Nature* **377**, 624-7 (1995).
- Marciniak-Czochra, A., Stiehl, T., Ho, A.D., Jager, W. & Wagner, W.
 Modeling of Asymmetric Cell Division in Hematopoietic Stem Cells Regulation of Self-Renewal is Essential for Efficient Repopulation. *Stem Cells Dev* (2008).
- Betschinger, J. & Knoblich, J.A. Dare to be different: asymmetric cell division in Drosophila, C. elegans and vertebrates. *Curr Biol* 14, R674-85 (2004).

- Bonaccorsi, S. et al. The Drosophila Lkb1 kinase is required for spindle formation and asymmetric neuroblast division. *Development* 134, 2183-93 (2007).
- 27. Marshall, W.F. What is the function of centrioles? *J Cell Biochem* 100, 916-22 (2007).
- Doxsey, S.J., Stein, P., Evans, L., Calarco, P.D. & Kirschner, M. Pericentrin, a highly conserved centrosome protein involved in microtubule organization. *Cell* 76, 639-50 (1994).
- Katayama, H., Brinkley, W.R. & Sen, S. The Aurora kinases: role in cell transformation and tumorigenesis. *Cancer Metastasis Rev* 22, 451-64 (2003).
- Liu, Q. & Ruderman, J.V. Aurora A, mitotic entry, and spindle bipolarity.
 Proc Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 5811-6 (2006).
- Fielding, A.B., Dobreva, I., McDonald, P.C., Foster, L.J. & Dedhar, S. Integrin-linked kinase localizes to the centrosome and regulates mitotic spindle organization. *J Cell Biol* 180, 681-9 (2008).
- Golsteyn, R.M., Mundt, K.E., Fry, A.M. & Nigg, E.A. Cell cycle regulation of the activity and subcellular localization of Plk1, a human protein kinase implicated in mitotic spindle function. *J Cell Biol* 129, 1617-28 (1995).
- Hyams, J.S. & Stebbings, H. The mechanism of microtubule associated cytoplasmic transport. Isolation and preliminary characterisation of a microtubule transport system. *Cell Tissue Res* 196, 103-16 (1979).

- Purohit, A., Tynan, S.H., Vallee, R. & Doxsey, S.J. Direct interaction of pericentrin with cytoplasmic dynein light intermediate chain contributes to mitotic spindle organization. *J Cell Biol* 147, 481-92 (1999).
- 35. Quintyne, N.J. et al. Dynactin is required for microtubule anchoring at centrosomes. *J Cell Biol* **147**, 321-34 (1999).
- Shao, Q. & Gao, Y.Q. On the hand-over-hand mechanism of kinesin. *Proc* Natl Acad Sci USA 103, 8072-7 (2006).
- Gao, Y.Q. A simple theoretical model explains dynein's response to load.*Biophys J* 90, 811-21 (2006).
- Mukherji, S. Model for the unidirectional motion of a dynein molecule.
 Phys Rev E Stat Nonlin Soft Matter Phys 77, 051916 (2008).
- Young, A., Dictenberg, J.B., Purohit, A., Tuft, R. & Doxsey, S.J.
 Cytoplasmic dynein-mediated assembly of pericentrin and gamma tubulin onto centrosomes. *Mol Biol Cell* 11, 2047-56 (2000).
- 40. Ma, S., Trivinos-Lagos, L., Graf, R. & Chisholm, R.L. Dynein intermediate chain mediated dynein-dynactin interaction is required for interphase microtubule organization and centrosome replication and separation in Dictyostelium. *J Cell Biol* 147, 1261-74 (1999).
- Robbins, E., Jentzsch, G. & Micali, A. The centriole cycle in synchronized HeLa cells. *J Cell Biol* 36, 329-39 (1968).
- 42. Tang, J., Erikson, R.L. & Liu, X. Checkpoint kinase 1 (Chk1) is required for mitotic progression through negative regulation of polo-like kinase 1 (Plk1). *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 103, 11964-9 (2006).

- 43. Hoffmann, I. Protein kinases involved in mitotic spindle checkpoint regulation. *Results Probl Cell Differ* **42**, 93-109 (2006).
- 44. Decordier, I., Cundari, E. & Kirsch-Volders, M. Mitotic checkpoints and the maintenance of the chromosome karyotype. *Mutat Res* 651, 3-13 (2008).
- 45. Zhong, W. & Chia, W. Neurogenesis and asymmetric cell division. *Curr Opin Neurobiol* **18**, 4-11 (2008).
- 46. Chenn, A. & McConnell, S.K. Cleavage orientation and the asymmetric inheritance of Notch1 immunoreactivity in mammalian neurogenesis. *Cell* 82, 631-41 (1995).
- 47. Haubensak, W., Attardo, A., Denk, W. & Huttner, W.B. Neurons arise in the basal neuroepithelium of the early mammalian telencephalon: a major site of neurogenesis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 101, 3196-201 (2004).
- 48. Lee, C.Y., Robinson, K.J. & Doe, C.Q. Lgl, Pins and aPKC regulate neuroblast self-renewal versus differentiation. *Nature* **439**, 594-8 (2006).
- Betschinger, J., Mechtler, K. & Knoblich, J.A. Asymmetric segregation of the tumor suppressor brat regulates self-renewal in Drosophila neural stem cells. *Cell* 124, 1241-53 (2006).
- Nobes, C.D. & Hall, A. Rho, rac and cdc42 GTPases: regulators of actin structures, cell adhesion and motility. *Biochem Soc Trans* 23, 456-9 (1995).

- Tapon, N. & Hall, A. Rho, Rac and Cdc42 GTPases regulate the organization of the actin cytoskeleton. *Curr Opin Cell Biol* 9, 86-92 (1997).
- 52. Hall, A. Rho GTPases and the actin cytoskeleton. *Science* 279, 509-14 (1998).
- 53. Rossman, K.L., Der, C.J. & Sondek, J. GEF means go: turning on RHO
 GTPases with guanine nucleotide-exchange factors. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*6, 167-80 (2005).
- 54. Lamarche, N. & Hall, A. GAPs for rho-related GTPases. *Trends Genet* 10, 436-40 (1994).
- 55. Nobes, C.D. & Hall, A. Rho, rac, and cdc42 GTPases regulate the assembly of multimolecular focal complexes associated with actin stress fibers, lamellipodia, and filopodia. *Cell* 81, 53-62 (1995).
- Ridley, A.J., Paterson, H.F., Johnston, C.L., Diekmann, D. & Hall, A. The small GTP-binding protein rac regulates growth factor-induced membrane ruffling. *Cell* 70, 401-10 (1992).
- 57. Ridley, A.J. & Hall, A. The small GTP-binding protein rho regulates the assembly of focal adhesions and actin stress fibers in response to growth factors. *Cell* **70**, 389-99 (1992).
- Bershadsky, A., Chausovsky, A., Becker, E., Lyubimova, A. & Geiger, B. Involvement of microtubules in the control of adhesion-dependent signal transduction. *Curr Biol* 6, 1279-89 (1996).

- Clark, E.A., King, W.G., Brugge, J.S., Symons, M. & Hynes, R.O. Integrin-mediated signals regulated by members of the rho family of GTPases. *J Cell Biol* 142, 573-86 (1998).
- Chockalingam, P.S. et al. Dystrophin-glycoprotein complex and Ras and Rho GTPase signaling are altered in muscle atrophy. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 283, C500-11 (2002).
- 61. Nakajima, K. Control of tangential/non-radial migration of neurons in the developing cerebral cortex. *Neurochem Int* **51**, 121-31 (2007).
- 62. Meinertzhagen, I.A. The development of neuronal connection patterns in the visual systems of insects. *Ciba Found Symp* **0**, 265-88 (1975).
- 63. Letourneau, P.C. Cell-to-substratum adhesion and guidance of axonal elongation. *Dev Biol* 44, 92-101 (1975).
- Kolodkin, A.L., Matthes, D.J. & Goodman, C.S. The semaphorin genes encode a family of transmembrane and secreted growth cone guidance molecules. *Cell* 75, 1389-99 (1993).
- 65. Serafini, T. et al. The netrins define a family of axon outgrowth-promoting proteins homologous to C. elegans UNC-6. *Cell* **78**, 409-24 (1994).
- 66. Yamada, K.M., Spooner, B.S. & Wessells, N.K. Axon growth: roles of microfilaments and microtubules. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 66, 1206-12 (1970).
- Ausprunk, D.H. & Berman, H.J. Spreading of vascular endothelial cells in culture: spatial reorganization of cytoplasmic fibers and organelles. *Tissue Cell* 10, 707-24 (1978).

- Lu, L., Oswald, S.J., Ngu, H. & Yin, F.C. Mechanical Properties of Actin Stress Fibers in Living Cells. *Biophys J* (2008).
- 69. Yeaman, C., Grindstaff, K.K. & Nelson, W.J. New perspectives on mechanisms involved in generating epithelial cell polarity. *Physiol Rev* 79, 73-98 (1999).
- Grill, S.W., Gonczy, P., Stelzer, E.H. & Hyman, A.A. Polarity controls forces governing asymmetric spindle positioning in the Caenorhabditis elegans embryo. *Nature* 409, 630-3 (2001).
- Ruhfus, B., Bauernschmitt, H.G. & Kinne, R.K. Properties of a polarized primary culture from rat renal inner medullary collecting duct (IMCD) cells. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim* 34, 227-31 (1998).
- Schmidt, C.E., Horwitz, A.F., Lauffenburger, D.A. & Sheetz, M.P. Integrin-cytoskeletal interactions in migrating fibroblasts are dynamic, asymmetric, and regulated. *J Cell Biol* 123, 977-91 (1993).
- Schmidt, C.E., Chen, T. & Lauffenburger, D.A. Simulation of integrincytoskeletal interactions in migrating fibroblasts. *Biophys J* 67, 461-74 (1994).
- 74. Su, J. et al. Geometric confinement influences cellular mechanical properties II -- intracellular variances in polarized cells. *Mol Cell Biomech* 4, 105-18 (2007).
- Munevar, S., Wang, Y.L. & Dembo, M. Distinct roles of frontal and rear cell-substrate adhesions in fibroblast migration. *Mol Biol Cell* 12, 3947-54 (2001).

- 76. Etienne-Manneville, S., Manneville, J.B., Nicholls, S., Ferenczi, M.A. & Hall, A. Cdc42 and Par6-PKCzeta regulate the spatially localized association of Dlg1 and APC to control cell polarization. *J Cell Biol* 170, 895-901 (2005).
- 77. Etienne-Manneville, S. & Hall, A. Cdc42 regulates GSK-3beta and adenomatous polyposis coli to control cell polarity. *Nature* 421, 753-6 (2003).
- 78. Etienne-Manneville, S. & Hall, A. Integrin-mediated activation of Cdc42 controls cell polarity in migrating astrocytes through PKCzeta. *Cell* 106, 489-98 (2001).
- Selden, S.C., 3rd, Rabinovitch, P.S. & Schwartz, S.M. Effects of cytoskeletal disrupting agents on replication of bovine endothelium. *J Cell Physiol* 108, 195-211 (1981).
- Macara, I.G. Par proteins: partners in polarization. *Curr Biol* 14, R160-2 (2004).
- Lin, D. et al. A mammalian PAR-3-PAR-6 complex implicated in Cdc42/Rac1 and aPKC signalling and cell polarity. *Nat Cell Biol* 2, 540-7 (2000).
- 82. Bohm, H., Brinkmann, V., Drab, M., Henske, A. & Kurzchalia, T.V.
 Mammalian homologues of C. elegans PAR-1 are asymmetrically localized in epithelial cells and may influence their polarity. *Curr Biol* 7, 603-6 (1997).



- Benton, R. & St Johnston, D. Drosophila PAR-1 and 14-3-3 inhibit
 Bazooka/PAR-3 to establish complementary cortical domains in polarized cells. *Cell* 115, 691-704 (2003).
- Li, Y., Grenklo, S., Higgins, T. & Karlsson, R. The profilin:actin complex localizes to sites of dynamic actin polymerization at the leading edge of migrating cells and pathogen-induced actin tails. *Eur J Cell Biol* 87, 893-904 (2008).
- 85. Lim, C.J. et al. Integrin-mediated Protein Kinase A Activation at the Leading Edge of Migrating Cells. *Mol Biol Cell* (2008).
- Ichii, T. & Takeichi, M. p120-catenin regulates microtubule dynamics and cell migration in a cadherin-independent manner. *Genes Cells* 12, 827-39 (2007).
- Hu, Y.L. et al. Roles of microtubule dynamics and small GTPase Rac in endothelial cell migration and lamellipodium formation under flow. *J Vasc Res* 39, 465-76 (2002).
- Iwanicki, M.P. et al. FAK, PDZ-RhoGEF and ROCKII cooperate to regulate adhesion movement and trailing-edge retraction in fibroblasts. J Cell Sci 121, 895-905 (2008).
- 89. Bisel, B. et al. ERK regulates Golgi and centrosome orientation towards the leading edge through GRASP65. *J Cell Biol* **182**, 837-43 (2008).
- Zhu, X. & Assoian, R.K. Integrin-dependent activation of MAP kinase: a link to shape-dependent cell proliferation. *Mol Biol Cell* 6, 273-82 (1995).

- 91. Nobes, C.D. & Hall, A. Rho GTPases control polarity, protrusion, and adhesion during cell movement. *J Cell Biol* **144**, 1235-44 (1999).
- 92. Otto, J.J. & Schroeder, T.E. Microtubule arrays in the cortex and near the germinal vesicle of immature starfish oocytes. *Dev Biol* 101, 274-81 (1984).
- 93. Lee, J.S., Chang, M.I., Tseng, Y. & Wirtz, D. Cdc42 mediates nucleus movement and MTOC polarization in Swiss 3T3 fibroblasts under mechanical shear stress. *Mol Biol Cell* 16, 871-80 (2005).
- 94. Palazzo, A.F. et al. Cdc42, dynein, and dynactin regulate MTOC
 reorientation independent of Rho-regulated microtubule stabilization. *Curr Biol* 11, 1536-41 (2001).
- 95. Tscharntke, M. et al. Impaired epidermal wound healing in vivo upon inhibition or deletion of Rac1. *J Cell Sci* **120**, 1480-90 (2007).
- Baye, L.M. & Link, B.A. Interkinetic nuclear migration and the selection of neurogenic cell divisions during vertebrate retinogenesis. *J Neurosci* 27, 10143-52 (2007).
- 97. Schliwa, M., Euteneuer, U., Graf, R. & Ueda, M. Centrosomes,
 microtubules and cell migration. *Biochem Soc Symp* 65, 223-31 (1999).
- 98. Zmuda, J.F. & Rivas, R.J. The Golgi apparatus and the centrosome are localized to the sites of newly emerging axons in cerebellar granule neurons in vitro. *Cell Motil Cytoskeleton* **41**, 18-38 (1998).
- Schaar, B.T. & McConnell, S.K. Cytoskeletal coordination during neuronal migration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102, 13652-7 (2005).

- Bellion, A., Baudoin, J.P., Alvarez, C., Bornens, M. & Metin, C.
 Nucleokinesis in tangentially migrating neurons comprises two alternating phases: forward migration of the Golgi/centrosome associated with centrosome splitting and myosin contraction at the rear. *J Neurosci* 25, 5691-9 (2005).
- 101. Tanaka, T. et al. Lis1 and doublecortin function with dynein to mediate coupling of the nucleus to the centrosome in neuronal migration. *J Cell Biol* 165, 709-21 (2004).
- 102. Gregory, W.A., Edmondson, J.C., Hatten, M.E. & Mason, C.A. Cytology and neuron-glial apposition of migrating cerebellar granule cells in vitro. J Neurosci 8, 1728-38 (1988).
- 103. Umeshima, H., Hirano, T. & Kengaku, M. Microtubule-based nuclear movement occurs independently of centrosome positioning in migrating neurons. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 104, 16182-7 (2007).
- 104. Ueda, M., Graf, R., MacWilliams, H.K., Schliwa, M. & Euteneuer, U.
 Centrosome positioning and directionality of cell movements. *Proc Natl* Acad Sci US A 94, 9674-8 (1997).
- 105. Koonce, M.P. et al. Dynein motor regulation stabilizes interphase microtubule arrays and determines centrosome position. *Embo J* 18, 6786-92 (1999).
- 106. Rakic, P., Knyihar-Csillik, E. & Csillik, B. Polarity of microtubule assemblies during neuronal cell migration. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93, 9218-22 (1996).

- 107. Starr, D.A. Communication between the cytoskeleton and the nuclear envelope to position the nucleus. *Mol Biosyst* **3**, 583-9 (2007).
- 108. Whited, J.L., Cassell, A., Brouillette, M. & Garrity, P.A. Dynactin is required to maintain nuclear position within postmitotic Drosophila photoreceptor neurons. *Development* 131, 4677-86 (2004).
- Lee, J.S. et al. Nuclear lamin A/C deficiency induces defects in cell mechanics, polarization, and migration. *Biophys J* 93, 2542-52 (2007).
- 110. Turner, D.C., Flier, L.A. & Carbonetto, S. Identification of a cell-surface protein involved in PC12 cell-substratum adhesion and neurite outgrowth on laminin and collagen. *J Neurosci* 9, 3287-96 (1989).
- Schaefer, A.W. et al. Coordination of actin filament and microtubule dynamics during neurite outgrowth. *Dev Cell* 15, 146-62 (2008).
- 112. Pugacheva, E.N. & Golemis, E.A. The focal adhesion scaffolding protein HEF1 regulates activation of the Aurora-A and Nek2 kinases at the centrosome. *Nat Cell Biol* 7, 937-46 (2005).
- 113. Zhou, H. et al. Tumour amplified kinase STK15/BTAK induces centrosome amplification, aneuploidy and transformation. *Nat Genet* 20, 189-93 (1998).
- Yao, L.J. et al. Aurora-A is a critical regulator of microtubule assembly and nuclear activity in mouse oocytes, fertilized eggs, and early embryos. *Biol Reprod* 70, 1392-9 (2004).
- 115. De Luca, M. et al. Aurora-A and ch-TOG act in a common pathway in control of spindle pole integrity. *Oncogene* (2008).

- Sardon, T., Peset, I., Petrova, B. & Vernos, I. Dissecting the role of Aurora A during spindle assembly. *Embo J* 27, 2567-79 (2008).
- 117. Fielding, A.B., Dobreva, I. & Dedhar, S. Beyond focal adhesions: integrin-linked kinase associates with tubulin and regulates mitotic spindle organization. *Cell Cycle* 7, 1899-906 (2008).
- Attwell, S., Mills, J., Troussard, A., Wu, C. & Dedhar, S. Integration of cell attachment, cytoskeletal localization, and signaling by integrin-linked kinase (ILK), CH-ILKBP, and the tumor suppressor PTEN. *Mol Biol Cell* 14, 4813-25 (2003).
- 119. Li, F., Zhang, Y. & Wu, C. Integrin-linked kinase is localized to cellmatrix focal adhesions but not cell-cell adhesion sites and the focal adhesion localization of integrin-linked kinase is regulated by the PINCHbinding ANK repeats. J Cell Sci 112 (Pt 24), 4589-99 (1999).
- 120. Rizki, A., Mott, J.D. & Bissell, M.J. Polo-like kinase 1 is involved in invasion through extracellular matrix. *Cancer Res* 67, 11106-10 (2007).
- 121. Sumara, I. et al. Roles of polo-like kinase 1 in the assembly of functional mitotic spindles. *Curr Biol* 14, 1712-22 (2004).
- 122. McInnes, C. et al. Inhibitors of Polo-like kinase reveal roles in spindlepole maintenance. *Nat Chem Biol* **2**, 608-17 (2006).
- 123. Chan, E.H., Santamaria, A., Sillje, H.H. & Nigg, E.A. Plk1 regulates mitotic Aurora A function through betaTrCP-dependent degradation of hBora. *Chromosoma* 117, 457-69 (2008).


- Buck, C.A. & Horwitz, A.F. Integrin, a transmembrane glycoprotein complex mediating cell-substratum adhesion. *J Cell Sci Suppl* 8, 231-50 (1987).
- 125. Takada, Y., Ye, X. & Simon, S. The integrins. Genome Biol 8, 215 (2007).
- 126. Riikonen, T., Vihinen, P., Potila, M., Rettig, W. & Heino, J. Antibody against human alpha 1 beta 1 integrin inhibits HeLa cell adhesion to laminin and to type I, IV, and V collagens. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 209, 205-12 (1995).
- 127. Bamdad, M., Volle, D., Dastugue, B. & Meiniel, A. Alpha1beta1-integrin is an essential signal for neurite outgrowth induced by thrombospondin type 1 repeats of SCO-spondin. *Cell Tissue Res* 315, 15-25 (2004).
- Bozyczko, D. & Horwitz, A.F. The participation of a putative cell surface receptor for laminin and fibronectin in peripheral neurite extension. J Neurosci 6, 1241-51 (1986).
- Schmidt, C.E., Dai, J., Lauffenburger, D.A., Sheetz, M.P. & Horwitz, A.F. Integrin-cytoskeletal interactions in neuronal growth cones. *J Neurosci* 15, 3400-7 (1995).
- Wayner, E.A. & Carter, W.G. Identification of multiple cell adhesion receptors for collagen and fibronectin in human fibrosarcoma cells possessing unique alpha and common beta subunits. *J Cell Biol* 105, 1873-84 (1987).

- Neugebauer, K.M., Venstrom, K.A. & Reichardt, L.F. Adhesion of a chicken myeloblast cell line to fibrinogen and vitronectin through a beta 1class integrin. *J Cell Biol* 116, 809-15 (1992).
- 132. Horwitz, A., Duggan, K., Greggs, R., Decker, C. & Buck, C. The cell substrate attachment (CSAT) antigen has properties of a receptor for laminin and fibronectin. *J Cell Biol* 101, 2134-44 (1985).
- Horwitz, A., Duggan, K., Buck, C., Beckerle, M.C. & Burridge, K.
 Interaction of plasma membrane fibronectin receptor with talin--a transmembrane linkage. *Nature* 320, 531-3 (1986).
- Powell, H.M., Kniss, D.A. & Lannutti, J.J. Nanotopographic control of cytoskeletal organization. *Langmuir* 22, 5087-94 (2006).
- Tawil, N., Wilson, P. & Carbonetto, S. Integrins in point contacts mediate cell spreading: factors that regulate integrin accumulation in point contacts vs. focal contacts. *J Cell Biol* 120, 261-71 (1993).
- Tawil, N.J., Wilson, P. & Carbonetto, S. Expression and distribution of functional integrins in rat CNS glia. *J Neurosci Res* 39, 436-47 (1994).
- Tomaselli, K.J., Neugebauer, K.M., Bixby, J.L., Lilien, J. & Reichardt,
 L.F. N-cadherin and integrins: two receptor systems that mediate neuronal process outgrowth on astrocyte surfaces. *Neuron* 1, 33-43 (1988).
- 138. Kramer, R.H., Cheng, Y.F. & Clyman, R. Human microvascular endothelial cells use beta 1 and beta 3 integrin receptor complexes to attach to laminin. *J Cell Biol* 111, 1233-43 (1990).

- Mueller, S.C., Kelly, T., Dai, M.Z., Dai, H.N. & Chen, W.T. Dynamic cytoskeleton-integrin associations induced by cell binding to immobilized fibronectin. *J Cell Biol* 109, 3455-64 (1989).
- 140. Schaller, M.D., Otey, C.A., Hildebrand, J.D. & Parsons, J.T. Focal adhesion kinase and paxillin bind to peptides mimicking beta integrin cytoplasmic domains. *J Cell Biol* 130, 1181-7 (1995).
- 141. Hildebrand, J.D., Schaller, M.D. & Parsons, J.T. Paxillin, a tyrosine phosphorylated focal adhesion-associated protein binds to the carboxyl terminal domain of focal adhesion kinase. *Mol Biol Cell* 6, 637-47 (1995).
- 142. Ballestrem, C., Hinz, B., Imhof, B.A. & Wehrle-Haller, B. Marching at the front and dragging behind: differential alphaVbeta3-integrin turnover regulates focal adhesion behavior. *J Cell Biol* 155, 1319-32 (2001).
- Yang, W., Lin, Q., Guan, J.L. & Cerione, R.A. Activation of the Cdc42associated tyrosine kinase-2 (ACK-2) by cell adhesion via integrin beta1. *J Biol Chem* 274, 8524-30 (1999).
- 144. Yang, W., Lin, Q., Zhao, J., Guan, J.L. & Cerione, R.A. The nonreceptor tyrosine kinase ACK2, a specific target for Cdc42 and a negative regulator of cell growth and focal adhesion complexes. *J Biol Chem* 276, 43987-93 (2001).
- 145. Woo, S. & Gomez, T.M. Rac1 and RhoA promote neurite outgrowth through formation and stabilization of growth cone point contacts. J Neurosci 26, 1418-28 (2006).

- Robles, E. & Gomez, T.M. Focal adhesion kinase signaling at sites of integrin-mediated adhesion controls axon pathfinding. *Nat Neurosci* 9, 1274-83 (2006).
- 147. Reginato, M.J. et al. Integrins and EGFR coordinately regulate the proapoptotic protein Bim to prevent anoikis. *Nat Cell Biol* **5**, 733-40 (2003).
- Daley, W.P., Peters, S.B. & Larsen, M. Extracellular matrix dynamics in development and regenerative medicine. *J Cell Sci* 121, 255-64 (2008).
- Ilic, D. et al. Reduced cell motility and enhanced focal adhesion contact formation in cells from FAK-deficient mice. *Nature* 377, 539-44 (1995).
- Hildebrand, J.D., Schaller, M.D. & Parsons, J.T. Identification of sequences required for the efficient localization of the focal adhesion kinase, pp125FAK, to cellular focal adhesions. *J Cell Biol* 123, 993-1005 (1993).
- 151. Hamadi, A. et al. Regulation of focal adhesion dynamics and disassembly by phosphorylation of FAK at tyrosine 397. *J Cell Sci* 118, 4415-25 (2005).
- 152. Yee, K.L., Weaver, V.M. & Hammer, D.A. Integrin-mediated signalling through the MAP-kinase pathway. *IET Syst Biol* **2**, 8-15 (2008).
- Mohseni, M. & Chishti, A.H. The headpiece domain of dematin regulates cell shape, motility, and wound healing by modulating RhoA activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 28, 4712-8 (2008).
- 154. Owen, J.D., Ruest, P.J., Fry, D.W. & Hanks, S.K. Induced focal adhesion kinase (FAK) expression in FAK-null cells enhances cell spreading and

migration requiring both auto- and activation loop phosphorylation sites and inhibits adhesion-dependent tyrosine phosphorylation of Pyk2. *Mol Cell Biol* **19**, 4806-18 (1999).

- 155. Sieg, D.J., Hauck, C.R. & Schlaepfer, D.D. Required role of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) for integrin-stimulated cell migration. *J Cell Sci* 112 (Pt 16), 2677-91 (1999).
- 156. Richardson, A., Malik, R.K., Hildebrand, J.D. & Parsons, J.T. Inhibition of cell spreading by expression of the C-terminal domain of focal adhesion kinase (FAK) is rescued by coexpression of Src or catalytically inactive FAK: a role for paxillin tyrosine phosphorylation. *Mol Cell Biol* 17, 6906-14 (1997).
- 157. Chen, M., Chen, S.C. & Pallen, C.J. Integrin-induced tyrosine phosphorylation of protein-tyrosine phosphatase-alpha is required for cytoskeletal reorganization and cell migration. *J Biol Chem* 281, 11972-80 (2006).
- 158. Jiang, X., Jacamo, R., Zhukova, E., Sinnett-Smith, J. & Rozengurt, E. RNA interference reveals a differential role of FAK and Pyk2 in cell migration, leading edge formation and increase in focal adhesions induced by LPA in intestinal epithelial cells. *J Cell Physiol* 207, 816-28 (2006).
- 159. Tilghman, R.W. et al. Focal adhesion kinase is required for the spatial organization of the leading edge in migrating cells. *J Cell Sci* 118, 2613-23 (2005).



- Owen, K.A. et al. Regulation of lamellipodial persistence, adhesion turnover, and motility in macrophages by focal adhesion kinase. *J Cell Biol* 179, 1275-87 (2007).
- Grabbe, C., Zervas, C.G., Hunter, T., Brown, N.H. & Palmer, R.H. Focal adhesion kinase is not required for integrin function or viability in Drosophila. *Development* 131, 5795-805 (2004).
- 162. Murakami, S. et al. Focal adhesion kinase controls morphogenesis of the Drosophila optic stalk. *Development* 134, 1539-48 (2007).
- 163. Furuta, Y. et al. Mesodermal defect in late phase of gastrulation by a targeted mutation of focal adhesion kinase, FAK. *Oncogene* 11, 1989-95 (1995).
- 164. Ueda, A., Grabbe, C., Lee, J., Palmer, R.H. & Wu, C.F. Mutation of Drosophila focal adhesion kinase induces bang-sensitive behavior and disrupts glial function, axonal conduction and synaptic transmission. *Eur J Neurosci* 27, 2860-70 (2008).
- 165. Tsai, P.I. et al. Fak56 functions downstream of integrin alphaPS3betanu and suppresses MAPK activation in neuromuscular junction growth. *Neural Develop* 3, 26 (2008).
- 166. Sieg, D.J. et al. Pyk2 and Src-family protein-tyrosine kinases compensate for the loss of FAK in fibronectin-stimulated signaling events but Pyk2 does not fully function to enhance FAK- cell migration. *Embo J* 17, 5933-47 (1998).

- 167. Weis, S.M. et al. Compensatory role for Pyk2 during angiogenesis in adult mice lacking endothelial cell FAK. *J Cell Biol* 181, 43-50 (2008).
- 168. Hannigan, G.E. et al. Regulation of cell adhesion and anchoragedependent growth by a new beta 1-integrin-linked protein kinase. *Nature* 379, 91-6 (1996).
- Katz, B.Z. et al. Direct transmembrane clustering and cytoplasmic dimerization of focal adhesion kinase initiates its tyrosine phosphorylation. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1592, 141-52 (2002).
- Boulter, E., Grall, D., Cagnol, S. & Van Obberghen-Schilling, E.
 Regulation of cell-matrix adhesion dynamics and Rac-1 by integrin linked kinase. *Faseb J* 20, 1489-91 (2006).
- 171. Lim, Y. et al. PyK2 and FAK connections to p190Rho guanine nucleotide exchange factor regulate RhoA activity, focal adhesion formation, and cell motility. *J Cell Biol* 180, 187-203 (2008).
- 172. Lynch, D.K., Ellis, C.A., Edwards, P.A. & Hiles, I.D. Integrin-linked kinase regulates phosphorylation of serine 473 of protein kinase B by an indirect mechanism. *Oncogene* 18, 8024-32 (1999).
- Persad, S. et al. Regulation of protein kinase B/Akt-serine 473
 phosphorylation by integrin-linked kinase: critical roles for kinase activity
 and amino acids arginine 211 and serine 343. *J Biol Chem* 276, 27462-9
 (2001).
- 174. Brognard, J., Clark, A.S., Ni, Y. & Dennis, P.A. Akt/protein kinase B is constitutively active in non-small cell lung cancer cells and promotes

cellular survival and resistance to chemotherapy and radiation. *Cancer Res* **61**, 3986-97 (2001).

- 175. Bode, A.M. & Dong, Z. The functional contrariety of JNK. *Mol Carcinog*46, 591-8 (2007).
- Minden, A. et al. Differential activation of ERK and JNK mitogenactivated protein kinases by Raf-1 and MEKK. *Science* 266, 1719-23 (1994).
- 177. Turjanski, A.G., Vaque, J.P. & Gutkind, J.S. MAP kinases and the control of nuclear events. *Oncogene* **26**, 3240-53 (2007).
- 178. Bashey, A., Healy, L. & Marshall, C.J. Proliferative but not nonproliferative responses to granulocyte colony-stimulating factor are associated with rapid activation of the p21ras/MAP kinase signalling pathway. *Blood* 83, 949-57 (1994).
- 179. Etienne-Manneville, S. In vitro assay of primary astrocyte migration as a tool to study Rho GTPase function in cell polarization. *Methods Enzymol* 406, 565-78 (2006).
- Ibraghimov-Beskrovnaya, O. et al. Primary structure of dystrophinassociated glycoproteins linking dystrophin to the extracellular matrix. *Nature* 355, 696-702 (1992).
- 181. Gee, S.H. et al. Laminin-binding protein 120 from brain is closely related to the dystrophin-associated glycoprotein, dystroglycan, and binds with high affinity to the major heparin binding domain of laminin. *J Biol Chem* 268, 14972-80 (1993).

- 182. Peng, H., Shah, W., Holland, P. & Carbonetto, S. Integrins and dystroglycan regulate astrocyte wound healing: the integrin beta1 subunit is necessary for process extension and orienting the microtubular network. *Dev Neurobiol* 68, 559-74 (2008).
- Hatten, M.E., Liem, R.K., Shelanski, M.L. & Mason, C.A. Astroglia in CNS injury. *Glia* 4, 233-43 (1991).
- Hatten, M.E. et al. Neuron-astroglial interactions in vitro and their implications for repair of CNS injury. *Cent Nerv Syst Trauma* 1, 15-27 (1984).
- 185. Fitch, M.T. & Silver, J. CNS injury, glial scars, and inflammation:
 Inhibitory extracellular matrices and regeneration failure. *Exp Neurol* 209, 294-301 (2008).
- Kriegstein, A.R. & Noctor, S.C. Patterns of neuronal migration in the embryonic cortex. *Trends Neurosci* 27, 392-9 (2004).
- 187. van de Wetering, C.I., Horne, M.C. & Knudson, C.M. Chromosomal instability and supernumerary centrosomes represent precursor defects in a mouse model of T-cell lymphoma. *Cancer Res* 67, 8081-8 (2007).
- Goepfert, T.M. et al. Loss of chromosomal integrity drives rat mammary tumorigenesis. *Int J Cancer* 120, 985-94 (2007).
- 189. Quintyne, N.J., Reing, J.E., Hoffelder, D.R., Gollin, S.M. & Saunders,
 W.S. Spindle multipolarity is prevented by centrosomal clustering. *Science* 307, 127-9 (2005).

- 190. Rebacz, B. et al. Identification of griseofulvin as an inhibitor of centrosomal clustering in a phenotype-based screen. *Cancer Res* 67, 6342-50 (2007).
- Slack-Davis, J.K. et al. Cellular characterization of a novel focal adhesion kinase inhibitor. *J Biol Chem* 282, 14845-52 (2007).
- 192. Xu, B., Pelish, H., Kirchhausen, T. & Hammond, G.B. Large scale synthesis of the Cdc42 inhibitor secramine A and its inhibition of cell spreading. Org Biomol Chem 4, 4149-57 (2006).
- Pelish, H.E. et al. Secramine inhibits Cdc42-dependent functions in cells and Cdc42 activation in vitro. *Nat Chem Biol* 2, 39-46 (2006).
- 194. Tisi, D., Talts, J.F., Timpl, R. & Hohenester, E. Structure of the Cterminal laminin G-like domain pair of the laminin alpha2 chain harbouring binding sites for alpha-dystroglycan and heparin. *Embo J* 19, 1432-40 (2000).
- 195. Andac, Z. et al. Analysis of heparin, alpha-dystroglycan and sulfatide binding to the G domain of the laminin alpha1 chain by site-directed mutagenesis. J Mol Biol 287, 253-64 (1999).
- 196. Desban, N. & Duband, J.L. Avian neural crest cell migration on laminin: interaction of the alpha1beta1 integrin with distinct laminin-1 domains mediates different adhesive responses. *J Cell Sci* **110** (Pt **21**), 2729-44 (1997).
- 197. Desban, N., Lissitzky, J.C., Rousselle, P. & Duband, J.L. alpha1beta1integrin engagement to distinct laminin-1 domains orchestrates spreading,

106

migration and survival of neural crest cells through independent signaling pathways. *J Cell Sci* **119**, 3206-18 (2006).

- Echtermeyer, F., Schober, S., Poschl, E., von der Mark, H. & von der Mark, K. Specific induction of cell motility on laminin by alpha 7 integrin. *J Biol Chem* 271, 2071-5 (1996).
- 199. Tozeren, A., Kleinman, H.K., Wu, S., Mercurio, A.M. & Byers, S.W.
 Integrin alpha 6 beta 4 mediates dynamic interactions with laminin. *J Cell* Sci 107 (Pt 11), 3153-63 (1994).
- Henry, M.D. & Campbell, K.P. Dystroglycan inside and out. *Curr Opin* Cell Biol 11, 602-7 (1999).
- 201. Driss, A. et al. Dystroglycan receptor is involved in integrin activation in intestinal epithelia. *Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol* 290, G1228-42 (2006).
- 202. Schaller, M.D., Borgman, C.A. & Parsons, J.T. Autonomous expression of a noncatalytic domain of the focal adhesion-associated protein tyrosine kinase pp125FAK. *Mol Cell Biol* 13, 785-91 (1993).
- 203. Hall, A. Ras-related GTPases and the cytoskeleton. *Mol Biol Cell* 3, 475-9 (1992).
- Yavin, E. & Yavin, Z. Attachment and culture of dissociated cells from rat embryo cerebral hemispheres on polylysine-coated surface. *J Cell Biol* 62, 540-6 (1974).

- 205. Lingle, W.L., Lukasiewicz, K. & Salisbury, J.L. Deregulation of the centrosome cycle and the origin of chromosomal instability in cancer. Adv Exp Med Biol 570, 393-421 (2005).
- 206. Balaban, N.Q. et al. Force and focal adhesion assembly: a close relationship studied using elastic micropatterned substrates. *Nat Cell Biol* 3, 466-72 (2001).
- 207. Bershadsky, A.D. et al. Assembly and mechanosensory function of focal adhesions: experiments and models. *Eur J Cell Biol* 85, 165-73 (2006).
- Sawada, Y. et al. Force sensing by mechanical extension of the Src family kinase substrate p130Cas. *Cell* 127, 1015-26 (2006).
- 209. Han, J. et al. Reconstructing and deconstructing agonist-induced activation of integrin alphaIIbbeta3. *Curr Biol* **16**, 1796-806 (2006).
- 210. Pirone, D.M. et al. An inhibitory role for FAK in regulating proliferation:
 a link between limited adhesion and RhoA-ROCK signaling. *J Cell Biol*174, 277-88 (2006).
- 211. Darenfed, H. et al. Molecular characterization of the effects of Y-27632.
 Cell Motil Cytoskeleton 64, 97-109 (2007).
- 212. Wary, K.K., Mariotti, A., Zurzolo, C. & Giancotti, F.G. A requirement for caveolin-1 and associated kinase Fyn in integrin signaling and anchoragedependent cell growth. *Cell* 94, 625-34 (1998).
- Rothberg, K.G. et al. Caveolin, a protein component of caveolae membrane coats. *Cell* 68, 673-82 (1992).

- 214. Hirst, R., Horwitz, A., Buck, C. & Rohrschneider, L. Phosphorylation of the fibronectin receptor complex in cells transformed by oncogenes that encode tyrosine kinases. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 83, 6470-4 (1986).
- 215. Dehm, S.M. & Bonham, K. SRC gene expression in human cancer: the role of transcriptional activation. *Biochem Cell Biol* 82, 263-74 (2004).
- 216. Lin, T.H. et al. Integrin-mediated activation of MAP kinase is independent of FAK: evidence for dual integrin signaling pathways in fibroblasts. J Cell Biol 136, 1385-95 (1997).
- 217. Renshaw, M.W., Price, L.S. & Schwartz, M.A. Focal adhesion kinase mediates the integrin signaling requirement for growth factor activation of MAP kinase. *J Cell Biol* 147, 611-8 (1999).
- 218. Cho, M.K., Jang, Y.P., Kim, Y.C. & Kim, S.G. Arctigenin, a phenylpropanoid dibenzylbutyrolactone lignan, inhibits MAP kinases and AP-1 activation via potent MKK inhibition: the role in TNF-alpha inhibition. *Int Immunopharmacol* 4, 1419-29 (2004).